

جامعة محمدين راشد للطب والعلوم الصحية Mohammed Bin Rashid University of Medicine and Health Sciences

STUDENT HANDBOOK

2023 - 2024



جامعة محمد بن راشد للطب والعلوم الصحية Mohammed Bin Rashid University of Medicine and Health Sciences

MESSAGE FROM THE PRESIDENT DR. AMER SHARIF

Welcome to Mohammed Bin Rashid University of Medicine and Health Sciences (MBRU), and congratulations on beginning a new chapter of your life.

Your acceptance into MBRU is a testament to your academic achievements, leadership potential, and outstanding qualifications.

MBRU today is proud to be part of an integrated academic health system, the Dubai Academic Health Corporation (DAHC). At MBRU, we work towards our shared vision to advance health for humanity and our mission to impact lives and shape the future of health by integrating care, learning, and discovery.



We're driven by our primary value of Patient First and our values of respect, excellence, teamwork, integrity, and empathy. Our values are central to everything we do and set the standards of performance across the university. We aim to create an environment where our students can exhibit a passion for learning, personal growth, character development, and leadership skills.

As a student at MBRU, you will have a multitude of opportunities to benefit from. From Year 1, undergraduates are eligible to participate in the Summer Scholars Program. Offered in the UAE and internationally, the MBRU Summer Scholars Program immerses students in real-world research and medical environments at academic and healthcare institutions. Postgraduate students are exposed to a plethora of experiences within the healthcare ecosystem through our local and international partnerships.

Studying medicine is both a privilege and a responsibility. Being a medical student means you are an ambassador of MBRU, DAHC, and the future of healthcare in Dubai. Your performance, attitude, and behavior shape the quality of care for generations to come. Your success is our success.

I wish you well in the journey that lies ahead. I look forward to celebrating your achievements as a student, as an individual, and now, as a member of our family at MBRU.

Sincerely, Amer Ahmad Sharif CEO, Dubai Academic Health Corporation President, MBRU

ACADEMIC YEAR 2023-2024



جامعة محمدين راشد للطب والعلوم الصحية Mohammed Bin Rashid University of Medicine and Health Sciences

MESSAGE FROM THE PROVOST PROFESSOR ALAWI ALSHEIKH-ALI

Dear MBRU Learners,

On behalf of all my colleagues, I am delighted to welcome you to the Mohammed Bin Rashid University of Medicine and Health Sciences (MBRU) community. MBRU strives to provide its learners with a transformative educational experience that will prepare them for a successful and fulfilling career in healthcare.

Through its colleges, institutes, and many robust, homegrown programs, talented and dedicated faculty, learning resources and support offered through the Al Maktoum Medical Library, and training facilities in DAHC,



MBRU, provides opportunities for effective clinical and experiential learning. These, along with our strong national and international partnerships, support our learners' learning experience and prepare the next generation of healthcare professionals who will envision, design and deliver solutions to tomorrow's health challenges.

You are a vital partner in our journey to realize our vision of becoming a global hub for innovative and integrated healthcare education and research at the service of humanity.

Welcome to the MBRU family, and we trust that together your educational journey at MBRU will be enriching and fulfilling. I look forward to meeting and learning with all of you.

Sincerely, Alawi Alsheikh-Ali Provost, MBRU



TABLE OF CONTENTS

		IOHAMMED BIN RASHID UNIVERSITY OF MEDICINE AND HEALTH SCIENCES	6			
•						
	VISION, MISSION, AND GOALS					
		ENT OF LICENSURE AND ACCREDITATION				
		AMDAN BIN MOHAMMED COLLEGE OF DENTAL MEDICINE				
		HE COLLEGE OF MEDICINE				
ABC	DUT T	HE COLLEGE OF NURSING AND MIDWIFERY	10			
ABC	DUT T	HE DEANSHIP OF RESEARCH & GRADUATE STUDIES	12			
ABC	DUT T	HE STUDENT HANDBOOK	13			
STU	JDENT	S' RIGHTS & RESPONSIBILITIES	14			
		RIGHTS AS A STUDENT AT MBRU				
1.	STUD	DENT ADMISSIONS AND REGISTRATION	18			
	1.1	Academic Calendar	18			
	1.2	STUDENT IDENTIFICATION CARDS				
2.	STUD	DENT LIFE	29			
	2.1	ORIENTATION	29			
	2.2	COUNSELING SERVICES				
	2.3	Special Needs Resources				
	2.4 2.5	CAREER GUIDANCE AND ALUMNI RELATIONS				
	2.6	VISA AND RESIDENCY PERMIT				
	2.7	Recreational Facilities				
	2.8	Student Council				
		2.8.1 Representation in Committees				
		2.8.2 Student Clubs				
	∠ 2.9	P.8.3 Dining Facilities				
	2.10	EMERGENCY SERVICES.				
3.	OTHE	ER SERVICES	36			
•	3.1	Academic Advisor Support				
	3.2	Teaching and Learning Methods				
	3.3	STUDENT-CENTERED LEARNING	38			
	3.4	PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT				
	3.5					
	-	8.5.1 Library Resources 8.5.2 Library Services:				
4.						
	4.1	Admissions Policy				
		 I.1 Graduate Admissions I.1.2 Undergraduate Admissions 				
		1.1.2 Ondergraduate Admissions				
		1.1.4 Admission Entrance Exam Purpose of the Test				
		1.5 Application Assessment and Selection Principles	53			
	-	1.6 Transfer Admissions & Recognition of Prior Learning Policy				
	4.2	FINANCIAL ADMINISTRATION				
	4		00			



		4.2.2 4.2.3	Tuition Refund Procedure HBMCDM Dissertation Refund	
		4.2.4	Tuition Fee Installments	
		4.2.5	Scholarship Programs and Discounts	
	4.3		SISTRATION AND ENROLLMENT	
	T. J	4.3.1	Registration	
		4.3.2	Enrollment Eligibility	
		4.3.3	Grading Policy and Progression Requirements	
		4.3.4	Leave of Absence	
		4.3.5	Withdrawal	
		4.3.6	Reenrollment to MBRU	
	4.4		DENT RECORDS	
	4.4	4.4.1	Definition of a Student Record	
		4.4.1	Maintenance of Student Records	
		4.4.2 4.4.3	Access to Student Records	
	4.5		IERAL ADVICE ON SAFE WORKING IN LABORATORIES	07
	4.5			
		4.5.1 4.5.2	Introduction	
		4.5.2	General Laboratory Working Precautions Personal Protection Precautions	00
	4.6		DENT ATTENDANCE POLICY	
	4.0	4.6.1	The Purpose of Attendance Monitoring	
			Attendance Evaluation	
		4.0.2 4.6.3		
	4.7		Absences Due to Delivery and Maternity DELINES GOVERNING THE USE OF THE LIBRARY	
	4.7			
		4.7.1	Introduction	
			Access to the Library	
		4.7.3	Conduct in the Library	
		4.7.4	Guidelines for Orderly Conduct in the Library	
		4.7.5	Other Services and Resources	
		4.7.6	Borrowing from the Library	
		4.7.7	Closed Access Collections	
		4.7.8	Restricted Circulation	
	4.8		DELINES - STUDENT CLUBS	
		4.8.1	General Guidelines for Operation of Clubs	
		4.8.2	Starting a New Club	
			University Support for Clubs	
		4.8.4	Clubs Activities Plan	
	4.9		ICY FOR NON-ACADEMIC PUBLICATIONS AND USE OF MEDIA PLATFORMS	
		4.9.1	Protocols Relating to Non-Academic Publications/Media	
		4.9.2	Guidelines for Publications Design	
		4.9.3	Use of Social Networking Sites	
	4.10		IPUTING SUPPORT AND THE USE OF COMPUTING FACILITIES	
		4.10.1	Use of Information Technology (IT) Facilities	
		4.10.2	Guidelines for Computer Usage	
		4.10.3	Emails	
		4.10.4	Violation of the Rules Governing the Use of the Computing Facilities	
	4.11		DE OF CONDUCT	
		4.11.1	General Conduct	
		4.11.2	Co-education Conduct	
		4.11.3	Conduct in the Classroom	
	4.12	INTE	ELLECTUAL PROPERTY RIGHTS OF PHD STUDENTS	92
5.	STU	JDENT D	ISCIPLINARY AND APPEALS PROCEDURE	94
	5.1	Gen	IERAL	94
	5.2		CIPLINARY AND APPEALS PROCEDURE – ACADEMIC OFFENCE	
		5.2.1	What Constitutes as an Academic Offence	
		5.2.2	Procedure for Investigating a Suspected Academic Offence	
		5.2.3	Disciplinary Process for Academic Offence	



		5.2.4 5.2.5	Possible Outcomes of the Disciplinary Process for Academic Offence Appeals Process for Academic Offence	
		5.2.6	Academic Offences Appeals Committee	
		5.2.7	Possible Outcomes of the Appeals Process	
	5.3	Dis	CIPLINARY AND APPEALS PROCEDURE – NON-ACADEMIC OFFENCES	
		5.3.1	What Constitutes as a Non-Academic Offence	
		5.3.2	Investigatory Process for Non-Academic Offence	
		5.3.3	Appeals Process for Non-Academic Offence	
		5.3.4	Non-Academic Offences Appeals Committee	
		5.3.5	Possible Outcomes Resulting from Non-Academic Disciplinary Action	
		5.3.6	Suspension or Permanent Dismissal from the University	
		5.3.7	Disciplinary Records and Confidentiality	
6.	STU	DENT G	RIEVANCE AND APPEALS	105
	6.1	Gen	IERAL	
	6.2	STU	IDENT GRIEVANCE AND APPEALS	
	6.3	Pot	ENTIAL OUTCOMES OF THE GRIEVANCE PROCESS	110
	6.4		EFRAMES	
	6.5		ITRAL MONITORING OF STUDENT GRIEVANCES	
	6.6	Fur	THER INFORMATION	110
7.	ACA	DEMIC	APPEAL	112
	7.1	App	PEAL ON ANY ASSESSMENT SCORE DURING THE SEMESTER	
	7.2		PEAL ON FINAL COURSE GRADES	
	7.3		D STUDENTS	
8.	GEN		CONTACT INFORMATION	115



ABOUT MOHAMMED BIN RASHID UNIVERSITY OF MEDICINE AND HEALTH SCIENCES (MBRU)

Named after His Highness Sheikh Mohammed Bin Rashid Al Maktoum, Vice President and Prime Minister of the UAE, and Ruler of Dubai, Mohammed Bin Rashid University of Medicine and Health Sciences (MBRU) is a medical university located in the emirate of Dubai in the United Arab Emirates. The university offers ten accredited undergraduate and postgraduate degrees through its three colleges: Hamdan Bin Mohammed College of Dental Medicine, the College of Medicine, and the College of Nursing and Midwifery.

Learning at MBRU is supported by three additional academic departments, Institute for Excellence in Health Professions Education (ieHPE), the Deanship of Postgraduate Medical Education (PgME), and the Deanship of Research and Graduate Studies. ieHPE is an innovative and comprehensive approach that merges the realms of health sciences and learning. Its primary aim is to spearhead groundbreaking educational research, cultivate a new generation of proficient practitioners and researchers in the science of learning, and elevate service standards through health professions education. PgME offers specialized training programs tailored to meet the increasing demand for highly skilled physicians and health professionals within the region. All PgME programs hold national or regional accreditation and are designed to prioritize competency-based clinical training. Through a meticulously structured curriculum, learners are empowered through research activities, medical simulation, and the development of essential soft skills. In parallel, the Deanship of Research and Graduate Studies fosters an environment conducive to innovation and intellectual growth, fuelling advancements in healthcare both locally in the UAE and on a global scale. This Deanship is committed to delivering high-impact translational research underpinned by a clear objective to elevate clinical practice, influence health policy, and ultimately improve the wellbeing of our community. By synergizing expertise, resources, and knowledge, learning at MBRU stands as a beacon of progress, dedicated to the betterment of healthcare education, research, and ultimately, the health of individuals and societies.

MBRU is the academic arm of Dubai Academic Health Corporation, Dubai's first integrated academic health system. The Corporation strives to advance health for humanity through its mission to impact lives and shape the future of health through the integration of care, learning, and discovery. By living its core value of Patient First, the Corporation aims to set the global standard of patient outcomes for generations to come.





VISION, MISSION, AND GOALS



Vision

Together we advance health for humanity.



Mission

We serve to impact lives and shape the future of health through the integration of care, learning, and discovery.



Values Patient First

Respect – Excellence – Teamwork – Integrity - Empathy

STATEMENT OF LICENSURE AND ACCREDITATION

At MBRU, we aim to develop the healthcare professionals of tomorrow. We are advancing health in the UAE and the region through an innovative and integrated academic health system that is nationally responsive and globally connected, serving individuals and communities. To accomplish our vision, we've ensured your qualification at MBRU is fully recognized through the Ministry of Education (MOE) accreditation.

MBRU is licensed by the Ministry of Education of the United Arab Emirates, since 15 December 2014 to award degrees and qualifications in higher education. Through its Commission for Academic Accreditation (CAA), the Ministry has accredited all MBRU graduate and undergraduate degree programs.

All Programs are developed in alignment with international quality standards and based on principles of continuous quality enhancement, and has been accredited by CAA since:

- The Hamdan Bin Mohammed College of Dental Medicine Programs:
 - Master of Science in Periodontology, accredited since August 2013 and the first cohort was introduced September 2013
 - Master of Science in Endodontics, accredited since December 2012 and the first cohort was introduced February 2014
 - Master of Science in Orthodontics, accredited since December 2012 and the first cohort was introduced January 2013
 - Master of Science in Pediatric Dentistry, accredited since December 2012 and the first cohort was introduced January 2013



- Master of Science in Prosthodontics, accredited since August 2013 and the first cohort was introduced September 2013
- The College of Medicine Programs:
 - Bachelor of Medicine and Bachelor of Surgery, accredited since January 2016 and the first cohort was introduced August 2016
 - Master of Science in Biomedical Sciences, accredited since July 2019 and the first cohort was introduced August 2020
 - Doctor of Philosophy in Biomedical Sciences, accredited since April 2021 and the first cohort was introduced August 2021
- The College of Nursing and Midwifery Programs:
 - Master of Science in Cardiovascular Nursing, accredited since September 2019 and the first cohort was introduced August 2020
 - Master of Science in Pediatric Nursing, accredited since September 2019 and the first cohort was introduced August 2020



ABOUT HAMDAN BIN MOHAMMED COLLEGE OF DENTAL MEDICINE

Hamdan Bin Mohammed College of Dental Medicine (HBMCDM) is MBRU's first college and home to five internationally recognized postgraduate dental programs. Graduate students are eligible to sit for exams with the Royal College of Surgeons of Edinburgh (RCSEd) and the Royal College of Surgeons in Ireland (RCSI) Membership examinations.

Candidates who have completed a Master of Science in Periodontology from MBRU, successfully passed the conjoint examination and obtained specialist registration in the United Arab Emirates are eligible to apply for Membership of the Royal Australasian College of Dental Surgeons (MRACDS) in Periodontics without further examination.

Dental program graduates are recognized as specialists in the UAE. Non-UAE nationals will be required to take the specialist license exam.

Our postgraduate students benefit from clinically intensive programs led by international faculty and practice in Dubai Dental Hospital (DDH), the largest hospital in Dubai, to provide the highest standards of oral healthcare to the community.

HBMCDM alumni are making their mark in prevention, practice, science, and leadership as they work to improve the oral health of local and global populations. Programs:

- Endodontics
- Pediatric Dentistry
- Orthodontics
- Prosthodontics
- Periodontology





ABOUT THE COLLEGE OF MEDICINE

At the College of Medicine, we train the next generation of healthcare leaders. We aim to inspire the brightest minds to live by our core value of Patient First and shape the future of health through the integration of care, learning, and discovery.

The mission of the College of Medicine is to provide integrated medical education and research that are nationally responsive and globally connected, serving individuals and communities.

The College offers students a learner-centered and outcomes-based curriculum that fosters critical thinking, professional competence, and a culture of scientific inquiry.

Programs:

- Bachelor of Medicine and Bachelor of Surgery (MBBS)
- Master of Science in Biomedical Sciences
- Ph.D. in Biomedical Sciences

All programs are accredited by the UAE Ministry of Education.

The College of Medicine is listed in the World Health Organization Directory of Medical Schools. Students and graduates of the MBBS program at MBRU are eligible to apply to the United States Educational Commission for Foreign Medical Graduates (ECFMG) for ECFMG Certification and examination. Also, MBBS graduates are eligible to apply to General Medical Council (United Kingdom) for the registration examination. Medical degrees obtained from MBRU are acceptable to the provincial/territorial medical regulatory authorities in Canada, and therefore accepted at all medical organizations in Canada.

MBRU's Foundation for Advancement of International Medical Education and Research (FAIMER) ID is F0004132.





ABOUT THE COLLEGE OF NURSING AND MIDWIFERY

Launched in 2020, the College of Nursing and Midwifery offers postgraduate courses of study alongside a research program that aligns with the ethos of MBRU to be nationally responsive and globally connected, serving individuals and communities. The College of Nursing and Midwifery offers two graduate programs accredited by the UAE Ministry of Education.

Programs:

- Master of Science in Cardiovascular Nursing
- Master of Science in Pediatric Nursing

Delivered in collaboration with Queen's University Belfast (QUB), the programs enable students to review and reflect upon their own practice and share balanced and critical findings that contribute to improving clinical nursing quality and efficiency. During the final semester, nursing students will be placed at the forefront of patient care in a 12- week Practice Placement either in United Arab Emirates or the Belfast Health and Social Care Trust, the largest integrated health and social care trust in the UK.

The delivery of these programs is through blended learning. Instructional sessions include Face to Face (F2F) and online (including both synchronous and asynchronous teaching) delivery, at least 50% of all teaching contact is delivered F2F, physically in the classroom. Teaching modes include the following: Lecture, Tutorial, Online Learning, Self-Directed Study, Practical, Simulated learning.





ABOUT THE DEANSHIP OF RESEARCH & GRADUATE STUDIES

The Deanship of Research and Graduate Studies plays an integral role in supporting the mission of MBRU which aims to impact lives and shape the future of health through the integration of care, learning, and discovery. The Deanship drives the University's research agenda by setting the research strategy which predominantly focuses on research in the fields of medical and biomedical sciences, with emphasis on areas of importance to the UAE. It is furthermore responsible for policy setting and providing the necessary infrastructure and resources to create a supportive environment for all MBRU Researchers.

Various teaching and research laboratories, including the MBRU Biomedical Research Center (MBRU-BRC), are equipped with the latest research technology and supported by the AI Jalila Foundation (AJF), falls under the governance of the Deanship of Research and Graduate Studies. The MBRU-BRC plays host to various researchers and postdoctoral fellows from leading institutions across the globe and has been the origin of numerous scientific discoveries and landmark publications in peer-reviewed scientific journals.

The Deanship also works in close collaboration with all the academic and administrative units of the University to serve the needs of the graduate community and to foster the next generation of scholars who will drive the progress of medical knowledge and discovery in order to advance the science agenda within the UAE.





ABOUT THE STUDENT HANDBOOK

We're glad you're here, we believe you have made an excellent choice by deciding to join our family. Our students are our most important stakeholders, and the focus of all our activities and functions. Throughout your academic journey, we will strive to provide you with a rewarding, enjoyable, and life-defining experience.

We recruit faculty and professional support staff that have extensive experience in medical, dental, and health education coupled with superior clinical skills, to serve as role models and guide you through your training. You will have many opportunities to acquire new information and technical skills and, above all, receive an education and training experience that will enable you to practice to a high standard and to become competitive globally. Our faculty also has a vast collective experience in medical research providing a rich environment for those students destined for a career in scientific investigation.

This Student Handbook provides information on University policies and procedures established to ensure the highest quality of education and training. In addition, you will find information that will help you derive the maximum benefit from your time at MBRU, and to understand the standards of behavior and personal responsibility that we expect from our students.

Our aim is to enable a partnership between students and faculty to ensure an outstanding educational and transformative experience, to support you in fulfilling your potential, and equip you with the skills and knowledge that you need for your life and career beyond MBRU.

It is also our aim that this Handbook acts as a useful source of information during your time at MBRU and every effort has been made to ensure that it is as comprehensive and accurate as possible. To ensure that the content is applicable and aligned to with your needs, we encourage you to provide feedback via email at student.services@mbru.ac.ae.

To enhance your experience throughout your academic journey, you need to familiarize yourself and ensure compliance with MBRU's regulations, policies, and procedures. Further information is provided in sections 1 to 5 of this Handbook. If any of the regulations, policies and procedures are unclear to you, or if you have any questions, it is important that you discuss these with your Academic Advisor. In order to serve you better, MBRU may need to change the information contained within the Student Handbook. Such changes may occur without prior notice.

The Handbook will be regularly updated throughout the academic year. These updates will be posted promptly on the MyMBRU Student Portal for ease of access. As a reminder to be environmentally friendly and to ensure access to the most updated information, students are discouraged from printing the Handbook.



جامعة محمدين راشد للطب والعلوم الصحية Mohammed Bin Rashid University of Medicine and Health Sciences

STUDENTS' RIGHTS & RESPONSIBILITIES

MBRU expects all students to comply with MBRU policies, show respect for properly constituted authority, to perform contracted obligations, to maintain absolute integrity and high standards of individual honesty in academic work, and to observe a high standard of conduct within the academic environment and to show respect for others.

Our main goal at MBRU is to graduate competent professionals and to ensure that our students have the best experience possible. Therefore, while studying with us, you will make friends for life, and will have the opportunity to receive high-quality education and be able to develop your social, organizational and communication skills, which will propel you on the path of an exciting and meaningful career.



A student enrolled at MBRU accepts the obligation to conduct themselves in an appropriate manner acceptable at an institution of higher learning and have to be aware of their rights and responsibilities.

More detailed information about your rights, responsibilities, and the support services provided by MBRU are set out in the following sections.

Your rights as a student at MBRU

To support you during your time at MBRU the University will:

- Treat you as a professional with equity, respect, and without any discrimination.
- Safeguard all the personal information you provide.
- Furnish timely and accurate information about arrangements for your enrollment, registration, and orientation.
- Deliver an orientation process to help familiarize you with the campus by introducing you to other students and key people, and by providing an induction to your studies along with available resources.
- Promote an active learning community in which you will have the opportunity to develop as an independent learner.
- Provide appropriate learning opportunities, resources, and support to assist you in your studies.
- Offer program(s) of study which include the knowledge, skill, and competency required for medical practice.
- Give you appropriate and timely feedback on your progress in order to promote your learning and improvement.

ACADEMIC YEAR 2023-2024



- Provide you with elective and volunteer opportunities to enhance your learning experience.
- Offer some scholarships and discounts, including merit-based and need-based awards.
- Provide guidance, assistance, and advice on visas and residency requirements, academic matters, welfare, disability support, scholarships, and grievance and appeals procedures.
- Encourage opportunities for voicing your opinions through student representation on relevant committees.
- Create opportunities for feedback to the college and University on your experience as a student, including participation in appropriate quality assurance and enhancement procedures, and provide information on action taken in response to comments received.
- Create opportunities to access extra-curricular cultural, recreational, social, and sporting activities.
- Channel independent advice and support through the Student Council.
- Provide you with the opportunity to access confidential support from the inhouse counselor regardless of the nature of your challenges.

Your Responsibilities as a Student at MBRU

As an MBRU student, you're expected to:

- Comply with all relevant University policies and procedures as well as the regulations applicable to your program.
- Familiarize yourself with the information provided about your program and seek clarification of anything that you do not understand from your Academic Advisor or Student Admissions & Registration (SAR).
- Fully engage as an MBRU active learner and provide your views on your educational and University experience honestly and constructively.
- Fulfill all registration and enrollment requirements at the outset of each academic year and participate fully in the orientation process.
- Pay tuition fees and charges when they are due.
- Provide valid personal contact details and biographical documentation to SAR. The onus is on the student to inform of any telephone change and provide SAR with the renewed copies of passport, visa, and Emirates ID.
- Monitor and respond to University and college email communications, which are the official means of transmitting important information relating to your program and other aspects of University life.
- Ensure all valuable items such as handbags, mobiles, laptops, etc. are not left unattended.

ACADEMIC YEAR 2023-2024



- Take responsibility for your locker and the items found in it. The University is entitled to clear lockers by the deadline given to students to empty their lockers.
- Assume responsibility for the behavior and the appearance of your guests while on campus. Advanced permission from Student Life (SL) is required to allow visitors to MBRU.
- Keep the student lounge tidy and clean and remember it is gender-specific.
- Make use of feedback on your academic work and ask for clarification when required.
- Pursue your academic studies in a diligent, honest, and professional manner.
- Attend all scheduled sessions, examinations and undertake all required assessments and submit all work on time; and inform your Academic Advisor or SAR if you are unable to attend a required component of the program.
- Treat fellow students, University staff, and visitors equally and respectfully regardless of gender, religion, community background, nationality, race/ethnic origin, disability, marital status, or age.
- Use the facilities and resources of the University or Clinical entities with respect and consideration for others.
- When using social media and other forms of electronic communication, students should behave in a responsible manner on and off campus, and ensure that their actions do not have an adverse impact on the reputation of the country or the university, its environment, neighbors, the local community or those who work or study at MBRU.
- Read the information provided to students about the University, College, and its services, and retain it for future reference.
- Students with learning experiences in clinical environments must treat patients with respect and confidentiality.

STUDENT ADMISSIONS & REGISTRATION

Ш



1. STUDENT ADMISSIONS AND REGISTRATION

The Department of Student Admissions and Registration (SAR) provides assistance to students in the fields of admissions, scheduling, registration, student records, and graduation.

SAR is home to all students, it is a place where you can receive support for all your needs, interests, and development. We have an open-door policy and you are encouraged to visit the Department at any time or call in to ask about anything you are unsure of. The department welcomes suggestions and ideas on how to enrich students' experience while studying at MBRU.

1.1 Academic Calendar

The academic year for each of the MBRU colleges or programs varies in start and end dates. Usually, a new academic year starts towards the end of August and for some programs will continue for 12 months. The academic calendar for 2023 – 2024 for each college is outlined below and is published on the University's website for reference. Academic information is set out in detail in the Program Catalog, which is available on the MyMBRU Student Portal. Updated information on teaching, scheduling, examination timetables, and University closure periods will be announced via email.

In addition, depending on the year and program of study, students may be required for remedial study purposes, to undertake a period of selective study during the summer months. Students will be notified of this requirement in advance. Students may also be required to continue with clinical training or coverage of Dubai Dental Hospital during the vacations.

There are approximately two to three weeks of holiday between semesters. MBRU observes most public holidays, dates are contingent to the announcement made by local authorities, which oftentimes happens shortly before the holiday date. Students, therefore, should not assume time off will be granted for a public holiday until it is officially confirmed by the University.



HAMDAN BIN MOHAMMED COLLEGE OF DENTAL MEDICINE ACADEMIC CALENDAR 2023 – 2024

Week #	Semester 1	Dates				
	Semester 1					
	Sunday, 27 August 2023 – Thursday, 1 February 2024					
	Clinic Starts for Returning Students	Sunday, 27 August 2023				
1	New Student Orientation	Tuesday, 29 August 2023 – Thursday, 31 August 2023				
	Classes Start for New & Returning Students	Sunday, 3 September 2023				
	WINTER BREAK for Year 1 and 2: 3 weeks Sunday, 17 December 2023 – Thursday, 4 January 2024					
	WINTER BREAK	(for Year 3: 2 weeks				
	Sunday, 24 December 202	23 – Thursday, 4 January 2024				
19 - 22	Semester 1 – Clinical Practice	Sunday, 7 January 2024 – Thursday, 1 February 2024				
19 – 20	Semester 1 – Final Exams	Sunday, 7 January – Thursday, 18, 2024				
21	Semester 1 – SAPC Meeting	Tuesday, 23 January 2024				
Week #	Semester 2	Dates				
	Ser	nester 2				
	Sunday, 04 February 2	2024 –Thursday, 04 July 2024				
	SPRING BREAK fo	r Year 1 and 2: 2 weeks				
	Sunday, 24 March – Thursday, 4 April 2024					
	SPRING BREAK for Year 3: 1 week					
	Sunday, 31 March	- Thursday, 4 April 2024				
19 - 22	Semester 2 – Clinical Practice (Year 1 and 2)	Sunday, 9 June 2024 – Thursday, 4 July 2024				
20-21	Semester 3 – Clinical Practice (Year 3)	Sunday, 9 June 2024 – Thursday, 20 June 2024				
18	Semester 2 – Year 3 Final Exams	Monday, 27 May – Tuesday, 28 May, 2024				
18	Semester 2 – SAPC Meeting - Year 3 Grade Approval	Thursday, 30 May 2024				
19	Semester 2 – SAPC Graduation Recommendation	Thursday, 6 June 2024				
19 - 21	Semester 2 – Year 1 and 2 Final Exams	Sunday, 2 June - 13, 2024				
22	Semester 2 – SAPC Meeting - Year 1 and 2 Grade Approval	Monday, 24 June 2024				
	SUMMER	R BREAK Start				
	Sunday, 7 July 2024					



جامعة محمدين راشيد للبطب والعبلوم النصيحية Mohammed Bin Rashid University of Medicine and Health Sciences

COLLEGE OF MEDICINE MBBS PHASE 1 & 2 ACADEMIC CALENDAR 2023 - 2024

Week #	Semester	Dates			
	Semester 1: Monday, August 21 – Friday, December 15, 2023				
1 New Student Orientation Monday, 21 August – Tuesday 22,		Monday, 21 August – Tuesday 22, 2023			
	Classes Start	Wednesday, 23 August 2023			
8 - 9	Semester 1 - ICA	Monday, 9 October – Monday, 16 October 2023			
14 - 15	Semester 1 – OSPE	Monday, 20 November - Wednesday 29, 2023			
16 -17	Semester 1 - Final Exams (Theory)	Monday, 4 December - Friday 15, 2023			
	SAPC Week (Grand Meetings & Advisory)	Monday, 18 December – Friday, 22 December 2023			
	Semester 1 - Resit Exams	Monday, 8 January – Friday 12, 2024			
Semester 1 - SAPC - Resit		Wednesday, 17 January 2024			
		REAK – 3 weeks 023 – Friday 5 January, 2024			
Week # Semester Dates		Dates			
	Semester 2: Mond	lay, 8 January – Friday, 24 May 2024			
8	Semester 2 - ICA	Monday, 26 February – Monday, 4 March 2024			
		REAK – 2 weeks 5 – Friday April 5, 2024			
18	Semester 2 – OSCE	Monday, 6 May – Friday 10, 2024			
18	Semester 2 – OSPE	Monday, 6 May – Friday 10, 2024			
19Semester 2 - Final Exams (Theory)Monday, 13 May - Friday, 24 Ma		Monday, 13 May – Friday, 24 May, 2024			
	SAPC Week (Grand Meetings & Advisory)	Monday, 27 May – Friday, 31 May 2024			
	Semester 2 Resit Exams	Monday, 24 June – Friday, 28 June 2024			
	SAPC Resit Meetings & Advisory	Monday, 01 July – Friday, 05 July 2024			



COLLEGE OF MEDICINE MBBS PHASE 3 ACADEMIC CALENDAR 2023 – 2024 (Year 4)

Clerkship	Dates	
Student Induction	August 22, 2023 – August 24, 2023	
Rotation 1 (8 weeks)	August 28, 2023 – October 22, 2023	
Rotation 2 (8 weeks)	October 23, 2023 – December 17, 2023	
WINTER BREAK – 3 weeks	December 18, 2023 – January 7, 2024	
Rotation 3 (8 weeks)	January 08, 2024 – March 03, 2024	
Rotation 4 (8 weeks)	March 04, 2024 – April 28, 2024	
Rotation 5 (8 weeks)	April 29, 2024 – June 23, 2024	
Revision and Assessments (incl. OSCE)	June 24, 2024 – July 04, 2024	
SUMMER BREAK Begins	July 08, 2024	
Re-sit (Written and OSCE)	August 12, 2024 – August 14, 2024	



جامــعــة مــحــمــد بـن راشــد للـطـب والـعـلـوم الـصـحــيـة دبي الصحية Mohammed Bin Rashid University DUBAI HEALTH of Medicine and Health Sciences Mohammed Bin Rashid University

COLLEGE OF MEDICINE MBBS PHASE 3 ACADEMIC CALENDAR 2023 - 2024 (Year 5)

Clerkship	Dates
Student Induction	August 21, 2023
Rotation 1 (4 weeks)	August 22, 2023 – September 17, 2023
Rotation 2 (4 weeks)	September 18, 2023 – October 15, 2023
Rotation 3 (4 weeks)	October 16, 2023 – November 12, 2023
Rotation 4 (4 weeks)	November 13, 2023 – December 10, 2023
Revision and Assessments	December 11, 2023 – December 17, 2023
WINTER BREAK – 3 weeks	December 18, 2023 – January 7, 2024
Rotation 5 (4 weeks)	January 08, 2024 – February 04, 2024
Rotation 6 (4 weeks)	February 05, 2024 – March 03, 2024
Rotation 7 (4 weeks)	March 04, 2024 – March 31, 2024
Rotation 8 (4 weeks)	April 01, 2024 – April 28, 2024
Revision and Assessments	April 29, 2024 – May 05, 2024
Elective (6 weeks)	May 06, 2024 – June 16, 2024
Re-sit (Theory and OSCE)	June 10, 2024 – June 16, 2024
SUMMER BREAK – 1 week	June 17, 2024 – June 23, 2024
Year 6 Induction	June 24, 2024 – June 30, 2024
Year 6 Program 1 - start date	July 1, 2024



COLLEGE OF MEDICINE MBBS PHASE 3 ACADEMIC CALENDAR 2023 – 2024 (Year 6)

Year Six	Dates	
Year 6 Induction	June 26, 2023 – June 27, 2023	
Program 1 (16 weeks)	July 3, 2023 – October 22, 2023	
*BREAK – 1 week	October 23, 2023 – October 29, 2023	
Program 2 (16 weeks)	October 30, 2023 – February 18, 2024	
*BREAK – 1 week	February 19, 2024 – February 25, 2024	
Revision and Assessments	February 26, 2024 – March 3, 2024	
Summative Exams	March 4, 2024 – March 7, 2024	
Selective 1 (4 weeks)	March 11, 2024 – April 7, 2024	
Selective 2 (4 weeks)	April 8, 2024 – May 5, 2024	
Elective (6 weeks)	May 6, 2024 – June 16, 2024	
Re-sit (Provisional)	May 20, 2024 – May 27, 2024	
Final Week Activities and Graduation	Week commencing June 17, 2024	

* Students are advised to request up to 5 days annual leave in both 16-week programs. Carry over holiday into subsequent placements only in exceptional circumstances.



COLLEGE OF MEDICINE MASTER OF BIOMEDICAL SCIENCES ACADEMIC CALENDAR 2023 – 2024

Week # Semester 1 Dates		Dates	
New Student Orientation		Tuesday, 29 August 2023	
1-15	Semester 1	Monday, 28 August – Friday, 15 December 2023	
16-17 Semester 1 – Final Exams Monday, 11 - Friday, 15 December 2023		Monday, 11 - Friday, 15 December 2023	
WINTER BREAK – 3 weeks Mon		Monday, 18 December 2023 – Friday, 5 January 2024	
Semester 2		Dates	
1-15 Semester 2 Monday, 8 January – Thursday, 30 M		Monday, 8 January – Thursday, 30 May 2024	
16-18 Semester 2 – Final Exams Monday, 22 April– Friday, 10 M		Monday, 22 April– Friday, 10 May 2024	
17	Last date for submission of thesis (2 nd year students)	Wednesday, 1 May 2024	

Teaching will continue through the University spring break, so do not plan to take vacation during the spring break. During winter and summer breaks, no classes will be held, however, students are required to work in the lab during these breaks. If the students plan to take any vacation days during these breaks, that has to be coordinated with, and approved by the respective supervisors.



COLLEGE OF MEDICINE PHD IN BIOMEDICAL SCIENCES ACADEMIC CALENDAR 2023 – 2024

Week #	Semester 1	Dates	
New Student Orientation		Tuesday, 29 August 2023	
1-15 Semester 1 Monday, 28 August – Friday, 2023		Monday, 28 August – Friday, 15 December 2023	
16-17 Semester 1 – Final Exams		Monday, 11 - Friday, 15 December 2023	
	WINTER BREAK – 3 weeks	Monday, 18 December 2023 – Friday, 5 January 2024	
Semester 2 Dates		Dates	
1-15	Semester 2	Monday, 8 January – Thursday, 30 May 2024	
16-18	Semester 2 – Final Exams	Monday, 22 April – Friday, 10 May 2024	
	SUMMER BREAK Start	Wednesday May 29, 2024	

Teaching will continue through the University spring break, so do not plan to take vacation during the spring break. During winter and summer breaks, no classes will be held, however, students are required to work in the lab during these breaks. PhD students are eligible for 30 working days of leave annually, to be taken during summer when it is convenient to do so, and with the agreement of their Academic Supervisor.



COLLEGE OF NURSING & MIDWIFERY MASTER OF NURSING ACADEMIC CALENDAR 2023 – 2024

Week #	Semester	Dates	
	Semester 1: Tuesday, 29 August 3	2023 – Friday, 08 December 2023	
1 - 2	New Student Orientation	Tuesday, 29 August 2023 – Friday, 08 September 2023	
3	Classes Start New and Returning	Monday, 11 September 2023	
15	Semester 1 – Assignment Submissions	Monday, 04 – Friday, 08 December 2023	
21	Board of Examiners Meeting	Tuesday, 16 January 2024	
21	SAPC Meeting	Thursday, 18 January 2024	
34	Semester 1 - Remediation	Monday, 15 – Friday, 19 April 2024	
		AK – 3 weeks 3 – Friday, 5 January 2024	
Week #	Semester	Dates	
	Semester 2: Monday, 08 January	2024 – Saturday, 31 August 2024	
2	2 OSCE Thursday, 15 February 2024		
	SPRING BRE Wednesday, 27 March 202		
2	Semester 2 – Assignment Submissions	Monday, 15 – Friday, 19 April 2024	
6	Board of Examiners Meeting	Tuesday, 14 May 2024	
6	SAPC Meeting	Thursday, 16 May 2024	
7 - 21		cement UAE / Belfast 24 – Saturday, 31 August 2024	
22	Clinical Placement Portfolio Submission	Wednesday, 04 September 2024	
22	Semester 2 – Remediation	Monday, 02 – Friday, 06 September 2024	
22	Dissertation Submission	Friday, 06 September 2024	
28	Board of Examiners	Tuesday, 15 October 2024	
28	SAPC Meeting	Thursday, 17 October 2024	
	Dissertation Remediation	Friday, 13 December 2024	
	SAPC Graduation Recommendation	Thursday, 16 January 2025	



UAE PUBLIC HOLIDAYS 2023-2024 (Subject to official confirmation)

Occasion	Dates	Occasion	Dates
Islamic New	Wednesday – July 19, 2023	New Year's Day	Monday - January 1, 2024
Year	Wednesday – July 19, 2025	New Year's Day	Monday - January 1, 2024
Prophets	Thursday - September 28,	Ramadan Begins	Monday – March 11, 2024
Birthday	2023	Kalilauali Degilis	
Mantunia Davi	Friday – December 1, 2023	End of Ramadan & Eid Al	Tuesday April 9 – Friday 12 April
Martyr's Day		Fitr	2024
UAE National	Saturday December 2 -		Sunday June 16 – Wednesday
Day	Sunday December 3, 2023	Arafat & Eid Al Adha	June 19 2024
		Islamic New Year	Sunday, July 7 2024

1.2 Student Identification Cards

Upon admission to MBRU, all students will receive an official student identification card (ID) for use while actively enrolled. Students are required to present their student ID card to secure various University services, from admission to final examinations, for campus access, assigned locker access, and for other purposes. Students are expected to present their student ID card to University officials upon request.

The student should report a lost or stolen ID card promptly to SAR. The University charges a fee for the replacement of a Student ID card.







2. STUDENT LIFE

The Student Life Department plays a pivotal role in the holistic development and well-being of students and alumni. From the first day of enrollment to graduation and beyond, Student Life is dedicated to ensuring that students have a fulfilling and enriching experience. Our team provides a wide range of services, programs, and resources, to support students' personal growth, while cultivating a sense of community and positive campus environment.

Student Life is proud to provide and organize various events and activities, offer individual and group counseling services and awareness sessions, promote student organizations and club activities, as well as empower our alumni and offering career guidance. Our commitment is to take care of students and alumni by creating an environment where they may thrive academically, professionally, socially, and emotionally.

2.1 Orientation

Orientation is an exciting opportunity to welcome new students and help them adjust to life on campus. Orientation will familiarize students with university resources including: a campus and library tour, informative sessions with key university personnel, an overview of important rules and regulations, an introduction to academic advising, and the facilities available. The program also includes an introductory academic advising session, to support students' academic progress. While students learn to navigate the university, they will also make valuable connections with other students and establish common bonds, which will increase their self-awareness and confidence, to ensure a smooth transition to university life.

2.2 Counseling Services

A student's academic journey is filled with challenges inside and outside the classroom. Our staff senior counsellor/psychotherapist is an integral part of the pastoral care and support that is available to all students. Through various campus activities, and mental health awareness sessions, students will have the opportunity to explore, identify and discuss any of their personal or academic experiences and challenges. Where applicable, students may request personal, one-to-one counseling sessions, which will allow them to discuss their concerns more deeply, in a confidential and private manner. The senior counsellor/psychotherapist may assist students with solutions by providing resources that may enhance resilience, decision making, and problem-solving skills. These important life skills will support students' academic growth, progress, and success.

Any information shared by a student will be treated as strictly confidential and not discussed with anyone without the student's permission unless it is public, in the student's interest or there is a legal obligation to do so. The other exception to confidentiality will be if the student is in danger of self-harm or behaving in a manner



that is harmful to others. In such circumstances, the policy of the University will override the confidentiality rule, and the safety of the student and others will be considered without the student's prior consent.

2.3 Special Needs Resources

MBRU is committed to accommodate students with needs that require special attention and management. To qualify for these services, applicants/ students need to provide official medical documents that support their eligibility for special accommodations and requirements. Each instance will be considered on a case-by-case basis and will be supported, provided that their needs do not interfere with the fulfillment of their professional roles and responsibilities.

Applications for admissions are also applicable if the candidate discloses their condition on the university health form, along with supporting documents. The case will be reviewed by the relevant admission committee. The proposed plan of support, during enrollment, are to be discussed by the student based on the report of a specialist at the time of admission. The purpose is to ensure that the student is given the same level of care and learning opportunity as others. The senior counsellor/psychotherapist and the student's academic advisor may be consulted prior to the Assessment and Progression Committee proceedings, to accommodate specific needs during examinations.

2.4 Career Guidance and Alumni Relations

The Career Guidance and Alumni Relations Office supports all MBRU students and graduates throughout their educational journey and into their professional lives. We strive to establish and maintain a continuous relationship that mutually benefits them and the university. Creating linkages between current students and our alumni ensures that our primary stakeholders are at the heart of everything we do.

The office partners with academic units and various departments, to provide professional development opportunities (i.e. Career Day, workshops and seminars, and placement opportunities), to support students and alumni in making informed decisions about post-graduation employment or continuing education opportunities.

2.5 Accommodation

MBRU does not have campus accommodation, but we partner with third-party entities who provide housing options for students who contact them directly. Priority is given to international students and those who live outside Dubai. Students are advised to apply for housing as soon as their offer from the University is confirmed and accepted. Updated information and contact details will be provided on an annual basis for students and parents to select their preferred housing option.

2.6 Visa and Residency Permit

Student Life, in coordination with the Human Resources & Administration

ACADEMIC YEAR 2023-2024



Department (HRAD), assists international students in processing entry permit visas upon acceptance and supports their residence visas once they officially join. For continuing students who wish to transfer their visa to MBRU, they need to approach HRAD through Student Life first to discuss their request.

It is the student's responsibility to monitor expiry deadlines and to initiate timely action and support required by contacting Student Life and HRAD. The cost of the residence visa, including the medical insurance, will be covered by MBRU.

2.7 Recreational Facilities

Campus facilities provide a comfortable space for students to relax and gather outside of their academic and clinical activities. The university is equipped with the male and female student lounges, prayer rooms, and two eateries. In addition, students may enjoy access to external recreational facilities at neighboring buildings, hotels, and sports clubs based upon university cooperative agreements.

Students may also participate in university-level tournaments, or tournaments arranged by other local universities. The Sports Club will communicate and coordinate with the Student Council, to promote sports events and activities for students, as applicable. All students are encouraged to participate in physical and recreational activities to enhance their educational and emotional wellbeing.

2.8 Student Council

Student governance is an important part of campus life at MBRU. The Student Council is advised and supported by Student Life. The Council Executive Team consists of the President – UAE student (1 position) Vice President (1 position) Treasurer (1 position) Secretary (1 position) Events & Clubs Chairs (2 positions) Media & Communications Chair (1 position) with student representation from across programs and years of study. Student representatives are elected by the student body through an annual process of elections. The Student Council may establish sub-committees to execute specific functions like events committee, sports committee, research interest groups, and public awareness group.

MBRU ensures that the Student Council is representative of all cohorts and academic majors. The Council executive members must maintain good academic standing and must have not received a warning or sanction in relation to a non-academic offense.

The Council has a remit to:

- Support communication between the student body and the university.
- Provide a platform for students' views to be heard by the university and to facilitate action to be taken in response to a range of issues and concerns.
- Coordinate and implement campus community events and encourage student volunteering opportunities that will benefit both the students and the wider ACADEMIC YEAR 2023-2024



university.

- Support and encourage student participation in co-curricular activities which will enhance their physical and emotional wellbeing.
- Support student club members in developing their leadership and event management skills.
- Accompany students at university hearings, if requested.
- Ensure that council/club meeting minutes are recorded regularly.
- Produce a report of the Student Council activities and achievements, which will be submitted to Student Life by the end of their term.

2.8.1 Representation in Committees

To ensure that students' views on various matters are heard and shared, MBRU encourages proactive student participation in the governance of the institution. Through the Student Council, student representatives are nominated to sit on University and college committees, to ensure proper input to the academic and operational management of the University, and to provide relevant feedback to the remaining student body. These representatives may or may not be executive members of the Student Council. The representative selection is based on nominations and agreement of the College Deans in liaison with Student Life.

2.8.2 Student Clubs

Student clubs are an essential part of student engagement and connectedness. The rich diversity of the clubs offers community service, volunteer activities, and social engagement on and off campus. Students are encouraged to start a student club or join existing ones. Club membership will be open to the university community and will be supported by Student Life, and the Student Council. For additional information on the policy governing the formation and membership of student clubs, please refer to the guidelines relating to the Operation of Student Clubs.

2.8.3 Dining Facilities

The dining facilities include a coffee shop, DXBlends, which provides a range of hot and cold meals and snacks as well as another eatery, Social Hub, that offers different options at reasonable prices. Students can also benefit from a wide range of food outlets in the surrounding buildings within a reasonable walking distance of campus.

2.9 Health Services

MBRU has an equipped first aid room on the ground floor. On-call trained first aiders are available to support in case of an emergency. In addition, students in need of healthcare are referred to a neighboring partner hospital where they can receive immediate medical attention. MBRU may provide health insurance for students who do not have coverage, to allow them to benefit from basic medical support during



their period of study. Students may contact Student Life for medical insurance services.

2.10 Emergency Services

Students will be given information during orientation on action to be taken in the event of a building evacuation or other emergencies. Students should familiarize themselves with the evacuation procedures in all campus and placement buildings. Evacuation is a must when you hear a fire alarm.

First Aid room is available on campus and is easily accessible via the duty First Aider who can be contacted on 04 3838800 through the campus security team. If an ambulance is required, please call 998.

For more information on emergency services please visit the MyMBRU portal.





جامعة محمدين راشد للطب والعلوم الصحية Mohammed Bin Rashid University of Medicine and Health Sciences


3. OTHER SERVICES

3.1 Academic Advisor Support

Academic Advising at MBRU helps students achieve their educational, personal, and career goals. Students should work closely with their advisors to plan workable educational goals, to understand the degree options and requirements, to understand the financial implications of their decisions, to assess their strengths and challenges as scholars, and to clarify realistic career objectives for themselves upon graduation.

In addition to their formal teaching responsibilities, faculty members serve students in an advisory and supportive capacity. At the beginning of the academic year, you will be assigned a member of the faculty who will be your academic advisor for the period of your studies at MBRU. Should a member of faculty no longer be available, another member of faculty will be allocated to you. You will be provided with contact details for your academic advisor on your first day of class, and you can request a meeting at any time.

The academic advisor will:

- Advise you on how to get the maximum benefit from your educational experience throughout your academic journey.
- Act as a role model and provide you with academic advice and guidance.
- Advise you on issues related to career planning.
- Support you in your extra-curricular educational activities.
- Act as an initial point of contact to support you in dealing with any personal or professional challenges, providing initial advice and guidance.
- Discuss any learning support needs and liaise with relevant college committees on your behalf to identify and provide any additional learning support that might be required.
- Refer you to other support services within the University when necessary.

You are responsible to contact your academic advisor to arrange meetings. You should meet with your academic advisor at least twice per semester / academic year or after each rotation in case of clerkship years. You are also encouraged to make an appointment to meet with him or her outside these scheduled meetings should the need arise. Additionally, the academic advisor may initiate a meeting to determine any necessary action required to ensure appropriate support in response to a concern raised by any MBRU college committees.

If you have been placed on probation, your advisor must initiate a report of students on probation or underperforming students, record a study plan and document measures to tackle difficulties in discussion with you, which will be forwarded to the



Dean of Happiness & Wellbeing.

All faculty received training on the advisor role, career development, and curriculum planning. Your personal discussions with the academic advisor will be treated with the utmost sensitivity and confidentiality. Should he or she feel that an issue has arisen which would be best dealt with elsewhere, e.g. by the counselor or another member in SAR, your permission will be sought prior to any referral being made.

If for any reason you prefer not to speak with your academic advisor, you may contact the Office of the Assistant Dean of Student Happiness and Wellbeing or the Guidance & Counseling office directly.

Academic Supervisor for PhD Students:

During the first semester the student will identify their academic supervisor. With agreement, this graduate faculty member will become the academic supervisor. The academic supervisor should help the student in identifying a topic for his/her dissertation research, closely supervise the and advise the student, establish a Dissertation Advisory Committee (DAC) so that the students' progress can be followed, and the student advised on his/her research work, and help the student in publishing the work. In addition, the student's supervisor should suggest an external examiner with the appropriate expertise to serve as a member of the Dissertation Examining Committee (TEC).

The supervisor remains the student's first point of contact when facing personal or professional challenges however, the responsibility is on the student to approach and seek help when felt needed.

3.2 Teaching and Learning Methods

MBRU is proactive in supporting its mission by providing an exceptional educational experience that will support you in attaining the knowledge, skills, and attitudes required to become a competent health professional. Through active learning and mixed modality of teaching methods, you will thrive towards becoming an independent lifelong learner. Informal learning spaces encourage flexible, self-paced, and self-directed learning supported by:

- Digital Learning provides flexible and personalized learning opportunities.
- Medical Simulation, where you will be able to practice in a safe environment.
- Workplace-based learning, providing a real-life clinical learning experience.
- Opportunities for elective experiences, to foster community-based experiences.

The on-campus environments range from traditional classrooms and lecture halls to clinical skills laboratories and a cutting-edge immersive simulation center. Laboratory simulation software and virtual microscopy prepare students for the



digitally enabled world of healthcare they will be practicing in. Such technologies allow for the creation of real-world scenarios in a safe and controlled environment and provide exposure to real- life clinical settings. In addition, teaching fully online or blended with on-campus teaching is also conducted to allow for the on-campus educational experience to fully focus on meaningful active learning that promotes the application of knowledge.

A flipped classroom approach has been adopted in many courses to expose learners to new and related material outside of class, via pre-reading, e-learning, or videos. This allows class time to focus on the assimilation of knowledge, through problemsolving, discussion, and debates.

The support for course delivery is enabled by MBRU's Learning Management System. The system allows learners to access study materials from anywhere and at any time. All study materials are consolidated into one central location and various forms of communication are supported to allow learners to collaborate, make connections and exchange opinions with each other, and stay updated with the latest news from faculty and fellow students, thus empowering learners to take charge of their own learning.

To measure the effectiveness of these interventions, MBRU conducts regular internal and external reviews of the programs offered to ensure that they meet educational objectives and international standards.

Definition of F2F, Online and Blended Learning*

Face-to-Face (F2F) Courses are courses where faculty and students are compresent in one room during the course delivery. This is the traditional type of instruction in non-virtual, in-person classroom delivery. Synchronous online class sessions are not F2F learning.

Online Courses are courses where 100% of the course credit hours are delivered online (either synchronously or asynchronously), this means that all instructional sessions are delivered online.

Blended Courses are courses where instructional sessions are mixed between F2F and online delivery. A course is considered a blended course when some of the course's instructional sessions are delivered online (either synchronously or asynchronously) and the remaining credit hours are delivered as F2F sessions.

*Terminologies as per CAA online and blended learning procedural manual.

3.3 Student-Centered Learning

The emphasis of the program delivery is on learning that is student-centered, experiential, clinically- focused, and based on practice within the workplace (i.e. healthcare facilities). Sessions outside the workplace will emphasize interactions

ACADEMIC YEAR 2023-2024



and discussions, coupled with demonstrations and practice in the Simulation Center. Furthermore, teaching models such as team-based learning, problem-based learning, and case-based promotes active learning for knowledge acquisition while developing teamwork skills that are essential for a future health professional.

3.4 Professional Development

Professional development is promoted through the use of e-portfolios from the first year of study and continues throughout your time at MBRU. In addition to personal development e-portfolios, students will have the unique opportunity to access and participate in a variety of professional development activities which are hosted and/or organized by the University.

3.5 Library Facilities

Al Maktoum Medical Library (AMML) supports students, medical and academic staff of MBRU as well as the wider medical community of DAHC, by providing access to quality and authoritative information resources in the field of medicine and research via membership.

Located on the first and second floor, the library has advanced services and resources, offers a collection of point of care resources and medical education databases and provides spaces for quiet study as well as group and collaborative study. In addition, its facilities include reading rooms, study lounges and study carrels, meeting rooms, and an information commons.

New students will receive an induction into the use of the library and its online facilities as part of orientation, and librarians are available throughout the academic year to help students locate and use the materials and facilities they require.

3.5.1 Library Resources

AMML maintains over 3000 print books, more than 250 print journals, and subscriptions to a range of electronic resources including e-Journals and e-Books covering a wide range of medicine and allied health topics, bringing a wealth of up-to-date and reliable information to users. The library also has multiple copies of course core textbooks

to support the curriculum at MBRU. Library electronic resources can be accessed remotely using the student's university email ID and password. Resources include:

- Core medical texts: 3,000+
- E-books: 11,000+
- E-Journals: 11,000+
- Databases & e-resources: 31+



3.5.2 Library Services:

- Ask a Librarian
- Research support
- Reference service
- Writing and publishing support
- Information literacy programs
- Inter-Library loan and document delivery
- Technology hub
- Remote access to library databases
- Borrowing services
- Wellness services

Library operating hours	
Monday- Thursday	8:00am – 9:30pm
Friday	8:00am – 4:00pm
Saturday	8:30am – 4:00pm
Sunday and Public Holiday	Closed

Note: Library hours will be extended during exams.



4 POLICIES & PROCEDURES



4. POLICIES & PROCEDURES

4.1 Admissions Policy

The standards and criteria for admissions are designed to achieve the University's vision and mission and are applied consistently to all applications.

Admissions to the graduate and undergraduate programs are managed centrally by SAR in collaboration with the concerned committees and Deans. Admission is open to all nationalities.

General minimum admissions criteria for the academic year 2023-2024 entry are set out below, admission criteria is updated annually as per CAA directives and is published on MBRU website:

4.1.1 Graduate Admissions

4.1.1.1 PhD. in Biomedical Sciences

ITEM	QUALIFICATION/CRITERIA
Degree	 Hold a Master of Science degree in biomedical sciences or a related subject with a minimum cGPA of 3.00 on a scale of 4.00. Applicants with a Bachelor's degree in biomedical sciences or a related subject with a cGPA of 3.7 out of 4.0, but do not hold a Master of Science degree may be considered for admission.
Research	Applicants with evidence of research experience will be given preference.
Additional Tests	Applicants with a good Graduate Record Examination (GRE) General Test score will be given preference.

Note:

• Applicants with university degree obtained outside the UAE, are required to submit an Educational Credential Evaluators (ECE) - General with Grade Average evaluation in US institutions when applying to evaluate the transcripts and have a standard GPA (http://www.ece.org).



English Language	Academic IELTS	 An overall band 6 with no skill less than 5.5 IELTS Indicator' will not be considered for admission purposes Must have been taken within the last two years A single certificate to be submitted, combined scores are not accepted.
Requirements	TOEFL	 iBT 80 PBT is not accepted 'My Best Scores' will not be considered for admission purposes Must have been taken within the last two years
Exam and Interview	Applicants will be invited to an online entrance exam. Shortlisted applicants will be invited for a face-to-face interview on campus.	
		ers and have completed their most recent degree in an

- English-medium institution or a Master's degree taught in English that required an IELTS (Academic) with overall 6 and no skill less than 5.5 or equivalent may be exempted from the English proficiency requirement subject to approval of the relevant Admissions Committee.
- Applicants who are graduates from MBRU's Master programs shall be exempted from the English requirement.

4.1.1.2 MSc. In Dental Medicine

ITEM	QUALIFICATION/CRITERIA
	Degree in Dentistry (B.D.S., D.D.S., D.M.D.) with a minimum cGPA of 3.00 on a scale of 4.00 or equivalent.
Degree	Applicants with cGPA between 2.50 - 2.99 or equivalent may be considered for conditional admission.*
Experience	Minimum of one-year internship is required.
Recommendation letter	Minimum of two reference letters from the current Employer / Institution.

Note:

- For applicants with a degree awarded outside the UAE, Educational Credential Evaluators (ECE) General with Grade Average evaluation is required to evaluate the transcripts and have a standard GPA (<u>http://www.ece.org</u>).
- *If admitted, the student is required to achieve a minimum cGPA of 3.0 on a 4.0 scale at the end of semester 1 excluding the Specialty Clinical Training course or be subject to dismissal.



		 An overall band 6 with no skill less than 5.5 IELTS Indicator' will not be considered for admission purposes
	Academic IELTS	 Must have been taken within the last two years
		 A single certificate to be submitted, combined scores are not accepted
English Language Requirements	TOEFL	 iBT 80 with minimum of 20 in Writing PBT is not accepted 'My Best Scores' will not be considered for admission purposes Must have been taken within the last two years
Interview	Screened applicants will be invited for the respective program interview OR Multiple Mini Interviews (MMI) as applicable. Applicants may also have a practical exercise.	

4.1.1.3 MSc. In Biomedical Sciences

ITEM	QUALIFICATION/CRITERIA
Degree	Hold a bachelor's degree or equivalent in any biological sciences discipline (e.g. biology, biochemistry, microbiology) with a minimum cGPA of 3.00 on a scale of 4.00 or equivalent.
	Applicants with cGPA between 2.5 - 2.99 or equivalent may be considered for conditional admission.*

Note:

- Applicants with university degree obtained outside the UAE, are required to submit an Educational Credential Evaluators (ECE) General with Grade Average for US institutions evaluation when applying to evaluate the transcripts and have a standard GPA (<u>http://www.ece.org</u>)
- *If accepted, student must take a maximum of nine credit hours of courses during the period of conditional admission and must achieve a minimum cGPA of 3.0 on a 4.0 scale in these nine credits of courses studied or be subject to dismissal.



English	Academic IELTS	 An overall band 6 with no skill less than 5.5 IELTS Indicator' will not be considered for admission purposes Must have been taken within the last two years A single certificate to be submitted, combined scores are not accepted.
Language Requirements	TOEFL	 iBT 80 PBT is not accepted Must have been taken within the last two years 'My Best Scores' will not be considered for admission purposes
Interview	Shortlisted applicants will be invited for a face-to-face interview.	



جامعة محمد بن راشد للطب والعلوم الصحية Mohammed Bin Rashid University of Medicine and Health Sciences

4.1.1.4 MSc. In Cardiovascular and Pediatric Nursing

ITEM	QUALIFICATION/CRITERIA
Degree	Hold a Bachelor of Nursing degree or equivalent with a minimum cGPA of 3.00 on a scale of 4.00 or equivalent.
	Applicants with cGPA between 2.5 - 2.99 or equivalent may be considered for conditional admission.*
Experience	Minimum of one-year (full time) post- registration experience. Specific experience to the area of specialist practice being undertaken is preferred.
License	Hold a valid Registered Nurse license.

Note:

- Applicants with university degree obtained outside the UAE, are required to submit an Educational Credential Evaluators (ECE) General with Grade Average for US institutions evaluation when applying to evaluate the transcripts and have a standard GPA (<u>http://www.ece.org</u>)
- *If accepted, student must take a maximum of nine credit hours of courses during the period of conditional admission and must achieve a minimum cGPA of 3.0 on a 4.0 scale in these nine credits of courses studied or be subject to dismissal.



English Language Requirements	Academic IELTS	• An overall band 6 with no skill less than 5.5
		 IELTS Indicator' will not be considered for admission purposes
		 Must have been taken within the last two years
		 A single certificate to be submitted, combined scores are not accepted.
		• iBT 80 with Writing score of 20
	TOEFL	 PBT is not accepted
		 Must have been taken within the last two years
		 'My Best Scores' will not be considered for admission purposes
Interview	Shortlisted applicants will be invited for a face-to-face interview.	



4.1.2 Undergraduate Admissions

4.1.2.1 Bachelor of Medicine and Bachelor of Surgery

ltem	Qualification	Admission Criteria
High School Students	UAE Secondary School Certificate	 Elite Track - Overall Average 85%, and an average of 85% in three science subjects. Advanced Track - Overall Average 90% and an average of 90% in three science subjects. (The Health Science course grade will not be included in the Average calculation).
	AS & A Level (British Curriculum) American Diploma	 A minimum of six IGCSE/GCSE subjects are required, of which three should be science subjects. IGSCE/GCSE science subjects must have a minimum grade of B or 5. Any four of the IGCSE/GCSE subjects must have a minimum grade of A or 7. Minimum of 3 B's in AS or A-Level in at least three science subjects.
		 Overall average of 90% or minimum cGPA 3.5 on a scale of 4.0 or equivalent (e.g.: cGPA 3.76 on a scale of 4.3). An average of 90% in at least three science subjects. (Applicants with American Diploma are highly recommended to complete at least two AP science subjects)
	IB Diploma	 32 points, inclusive of any bonus points A minimum score of 5 in three science subjects including Math (Mathematics: analysis and approaches, Mathematics: applications and interpretation). Two of the science subjects should be at Higher Level



CBSE/ICSE (Indian Curriculu	 Overall average of 85% An average of 85% in three science subjects *For ICSE applicants, grades of all completed courses will be included in the Average calculation
French	 Overall Score of 12/20 At least three science subjects
Baccalaureate	with minimum score of 12.

Note:

- For Curricula not mentioned above, the requirements for UAE Secondary School Certificate or equivalent will be applied.
- Examples of Science subjects: Biology, Physics, Chemistry, Mathematics, Calculus, Algebra, IT, Psychology, Combined Sciences, Geology.
- We highly recommend students completing Chemistry and Biology in grades 11 and / or 12.
- Applicants with high school certificate obtained outside the UAE other than the qualifications listed above, are required to submit an Educational Credential Evaluators (ECE) course-by-course evaluation when applying to evaluate the transcripts and have a standard GPA (http://www.ece.org).

University Students	 Latest minimum cGPA 3.0 on a scale of 4, or equivalent Applicant should meet high school certificate requirements
University Graduates	 Latest minimum cGPA 3.0 on a scale of 4.0, British 2:1 degree, or equivalent University studies should have included science related courses

Note:

- Applicants with university degree obtained outside the UAE, are required to submit an Educational Credential Evaluators (ECE) course-by-course evaluation when applying. This is to evaluate the transcripts and have a standard GPA (http://www.ece.org).
- If admitted, university students will have to enroll and complete all courses offered starting year one in the MBBS program. MBRU MBBS curriculum is specifically designed with integrated courses hence students need to attend all courses offered. No transfer of credits will be given for previously completed courses.

ACADEMIC YEAR 2023-2024



English Language	Academic IELTS	 Minimum of band 6 with no skill less than 5.5 'IELTS Indicator' will not be considered for admission purposes A single certificate to be submitted, combined scores are not accepted Must have been taken within the last two years
Language Requirements	TOEFL	 iBT 80; CBT 213; PBT is not accepted 'My Best Scores' will not be considered for admission purposes 'My Best Scores' will not be considered for admission purposes Must have been taken within the last two years
	EmSAT - English	 Achievement of 1525 or above

Note:

• English proficiency is an admission criteria and all applicants, regardless of the medium of study or nativity, are required to submit either the IELTS/TOEFL report or EmSAT English.

EmSAT - Arabic	 Achievement of 800 or above International students (non-UAE residents) will be registered for a non-credited 'Basic Arabic Language' course at the institution.
----------------	--

4.1.3 Multiple Mini Interviews

The Multiple Mini Interview (MMI) is an interview process comprised of several short independent assessments, typically arranged in a timed circuit. The process results in an aggregate score of each applicants' non-cognitive "soft" skills such as interpersonal skills, professionalism and moral judgment. Since its introduction in 2004, the MMI process has been adopted by medical, dental and pharmacy schools around the world.

The MMI process

At the start of each mini interview rotation, an applicant receives a question/scenario and has a short period of time (typically one minute) to prepare an answer. Upon entering the interview room, the applicant has a short communication with an assessor(usually about 5 minutes). In some cases, the assessor observes while an interaction takes place between a standardized patient and the applicant.

At the end of each mini interview, the assessor evaluates the applicant's performance on the activity against set criteria while the applicant moves to the next station. This pattern is repeated through a number of rotations (usually 10-15). Some stations are designated as "rest stations" meaning that no interview takes place. The applicant is expected to sit quietly during that time. The duration of the entire interview is usually between 60- 90 minutes.

The interview scenarios are designed to test non-cognitive competencies which are key to medicine, such as:

- Communication skills
- Problem-solving
- Empathy
- Moral/ethical reasoning and decision making

Although participants must relate to the scenario posed at each station, it is important to note that the MMI is not intended to test specific knowledge in the field. Instead, the assessors evaluate each applicant's thought process and ability to think naturally. As such, there are no right or wrong answers to the questions posed in an MMI, but each applicant should consider the question from a variety of perspectives.

4.1.4 Admission Entrance Exam Purpose of the Test

The purpose of the MBRU Admissions Test is specifically to provide an assessment of candidates' potential to succeed in the MBBS program. It is not designed to assess the appropriateness of applicants' high school qualifications. The test results are intended to be used to select the students who will then progress to the multiple mini-interview (MMI).

The test items draw upon basic science knowledge in Biology, Chemistry, Physics, and Mathematics that are usually taught in secondary education (High schools) and have an application to medicine. The test provides an objective basis for comparing ACADEMIC YEAR 2023-2024



candidates from different high school curricular backgrounds locally within the UAE and those from other countries..

Structure of the test

- The test will be a 90-minute single-best-answer multiple-choice test (60 questions).
- The test explores whether a candidate has the minimum level of core scientific knowledge and the ability to apply it. Questions will be restricted to material typically included in Biology, Chemistry, Physics and Mathematics courses in secondary schools. Approximately two-thirds of the exam will focus on biology and chemistry.
- Questions will be in multiple-choice format. There are no penalties for incorrect responses, only marks for correct answers, so candidates should attempt all questions. Each question is worth one mark. Calculators are not permitted. Log table will be provided.
- The content specification is set out in the Guide shared with invited applicants.

Test format

The test will be conducted on the computer.

4.1.5 Application Assessment and Selection Principles

All applications are considered individually on their merits. The selection process is consistent and transparent and is based on objective criteria. Academic qualifications and the outcomes of the Colleges' interview processes are therefore key criteria but the full information on the application is considered.

4.1.6 Transfer Admissions & Recognition of Prior Learning Policy

Transfer applications are considered on individual basis and are screened like all other applicants as per undergraduate and graduate admission processes and deadlines. All applicants seeking transfer admission must meet the relevant admission criteria before consideration of credits by the relevant committee. If approved, consideration may be given for transfer credit as per the Recognition of Prior Learning Policy. However, MBRU's MBBS undergraduate program, MSc in Biomedical Sciences program and PhD in Biomedical Sciences program do not accept transfer of admissions, transfer credit, nor recognition of prior learning, due to the uniqueness and integrated nature of the curriculum offered. Students can only request for transfer credit at the time of application – if applicable.

For a transfer admission request to be considered, where applicable:

• The student must be in good academic standing at his/her home institution and should not hold a GPA of less than 3.0 on a scale of 4 (or equivalent) in the last completed year.

ACADEMIC YEAR 2023-2024



- UAE institutions recorded in the National Register of Licensed HEIs, or other organizations in the UAE approved by the CAA, or recognized institutions of higher learning located outside the UAE, are eligible for transfer admission.
- The institution from where the transfer is being made must be a federal or licensed institution, recognized by the Ministry of Education, United Arab Emirates (UAE), or a foreign institution of higher education recognized by the Ministry of Education, UAE.

Transfer credits may be granted for courses if:

- The courses are relevant to the program and have comparable learning outcomes to courses offered at MBRU.
- For courses to be considered for transfer credit, they must have been completed in the previous 5 years.
- The student must have attained a minimum grade of B (or equivalent) for a graduate degree for courses to be considered for transfer credit.
- No transfer credit will be granted for graduation projects and thesis courses.
- The student may not receive credit twice for the same course taken at different institutions.
- MBRU does not recognize experiential or non-classroom based prior learning.
- Prior learning credits for clinical training are recognized only if the relevant training took place in the UAE, when applicable as per the Recognition of Prior Learning Policy. In exceptional circumstances a waiver may be granted by the Ministry of Education.
- All supporting documents will be presented to the relevant College Curriculum Committee for evaluation as per the Recognition of Prior Learning Policy. For approved transfer credit courses, the grade that appears on MBRU transcript is Transfer Credit (TC) and does not count towards the final GPA calculation.

Transferred courses should not exceed more than:

• 25% of the total number of credits required to complete a degree for graduate programs.

Students can transfer only at the beginning of an academic year. Transfer students will be notified of the outcome of their admissions transfer evaluation, and how this will be applied to their application for the selected program at MBRU, in line with the general admissions process and deadlines.

The relevant committee's decision is final in the absence of new information or procedural errors.



4.2 Financial Administration

SAR in collaboration with the Finance Department and Advancement and Future Office, supports students with completion of financial status and can advise on issues relating to tuition fees and scholarships.

4.2.1 Tuition Fees

MBRU will annually share and publish in the Student Handbook, College Catalog and MBRU Website a "Schedule of Tuition Fee" for all University approved programs. The tuition fee excludes nonrefundable AED 1050 Application Fee paid at the time of submitting the application form and the required documents. The nonrefundable seat- reservation fee counts towards the fees of the first semester.

HBMCDM Schedule of Fees for Academic Year 2023-2024 is set out below:

2023-2024	International Student	UAE & GCC* Student	Payment Schedule
Seat reservation fee (non- refundable)	AED 10,000	AED 10,000	At time of acceptance of offer
Tuition fee	AED 175,000	AED 150,000	July 26, 2022
Total annual tuition fee	AED 185,000	AED 160,000	

*GCC - Gulf Cooperation Council

College of Medicine Schedule of Fee for Academic Year 2023-2024 is set out below:

Bachelor of Medicine and Bachelor of Surgery (MBBS):

2023-2024	Amount	Payment Schedule
Seat reservation fee (non- refundable)	AED 10,000	At time of acceptance of offer
Tuition fee	AED 150,000	July 26, 2023
Total annual tuition fee	AED 160,000	

Master of Science in Biomedical Sciences (MSBS):



2023-2024	Thesis Track	Payment Schedule
Seat reservation fee (non- refundable)	AED 10,000	At time of acceptance of offer
Tuition fee	AED 107,300	July 26, 2023
Total annual tuition fee	AED 117,300	

College of Nursing and Midwifery:

2023-2024	Amount	Payment Schedule
Seat reservation fee (non- refundable)	AED 10,000	At time of acceptance of offer
Tuition fee	AED 130,000	July 26, 2023
Total annual tuition fee	AED 140,000	

PhD in Biomedical Sciences:

August 2022 Entry		Annual Fee
Seat reservation fee (non- refundable)	AED 10,000	AED 10,000
AY 2021-22	3,450 per credit	AED 59,000
AY 2022-23	3,450 per credit	AED 69,000
AY 2023-24	3,450 per credit	AED 69,000
AY 2024-25	3,450 per credit	AED 55,200
Total annual tuition fee	76 Credits	AED 262,200

General Tuition Procedure

MBRU establishes the tuition fees per academic year. Any changes in tuition fees will be approved by the University Academic Council and will be communicated to students at least six months before taking effect.

The annual tuition covers all educational expenses, library, insurance as applicable, issuance of first training license for Dental students and lab activities. It does not cover the cost of textbooks or for clinical electives taken inside or outside the country.

Annual tuition fee is due and payable in full at the specified deadlines published in the "Schedule of Tuition Fee". The final responsibility for payment of tuition fee charges rests with the individual students or their sponsors.

Students with an external scholarship for tuition fees must provide written



confirmation of the scholarship, as specified in the Schedule of Tuition Fee before the initial

payment deadline. Sponsored students who do not submit the required confirmation of scholarship and continue in enrollment will assume personal responsibility for all tuition charges and applicable fees. If the scholarship is ended at any time the student is liable to pay the tuition fee to the University if not paid by the sponsor. In case the student was granted a scholarship during the academic year and the sponsor covered the paid tuition fee, then the student will be refunded the paid amount.

Students facing financial hardship, may ask the Finance Department to reschedule payments within the academic year on an exceptional basis. The first installment must be paid before the set deadline prior to the start of the academic year, and the final installment must be paid and cleared before the official end of the academic year. Advance submission of post-dated cheques (for full semester) is necessary to enroll the student.

Students who fail to pay all applicable tuition fees by the established/rescheduled payment deadline(s) or who are late in paying their fees, may be subject to suspension of academic services or cancellation of current and/or future registration.

Payments of tuition fee may be made by means specified in the published schedule of tuition fee. Notification of tuition fee charges by the Finance Department via the student's university email address constitutes official notice of financial liability. The new students, though, may receive the first payment notification on the email address provided on the application form. Payment of tuition fee can be processed through the means below:

Payment Means:

• Bank Transfer:

Once your bank transfer has been completed, please send a copy of the receipt with the name and student ID to studentFinance@mbru.ac.ae **Bank Name:** Dubai Islamic Bank **Branch Address:** Dubai, UAE **Account Title:** Mohammed Bin Rashid University of Medicine and Health Sciences **Account No.** 001520121651702 IBAN: AE340240001520121651702 **SWIFT Code:** DUIBAEADXXX

• Cash / Cheques:

You can visit MBRU's Finance Department in Dubai Healthcare City, Building14, Second Floor and pay in cash and /or cheques between 9 am – 3 pm, Sunday to Thursday.

• Credit Card:



The student must coordinate with Finance Department about the accurate amount to be paid via credit card and accordingly payment link shall be shared within the stipulated grace period.

Penalties: A penalty of AED 500 may apply for:

- Late payment(s)
- Bounced cheques

4.2.2 Tuition Refund Procedure

All tuition fees are non-refundable, except as specified and summarized below: The refund policy excludes the following:

- Application fee
- Seat holding fee
- Tuition fee in the event of dismissal for disciplinary reasons

In the event of a student formally withdrawing from the University the following refund schedule will apply:

- 100% (excluding the seat reservation fee) if before the official beginning of the academic semester
- 50% of the total semester fee if before the end of the second week of classes in a given semester
- No refund after the end of the second week of classes in a given semester
- A full refund before the start of the semester is possible in the following cases:
- If an applicant/a student does not meet the academic admission/progression requirement as per published criteria
- If an applicant/a student visa is rejected
- If a student is awarded a scholarship (refund will be according to the granted amount)
- If an applicant/a student does not meet the medical requirements

For the continuing students (starting from semester 2 of the program):

• If the application form for withdrawal/deferral/drop of course was formally initiated prior to the start of the semester then the student is eligible for a 100% refund.

Special circumstances:

The Director of SAR will request the formation of a committee to decide on tuition



refunds should an unexpected scenario occur.

If an applicant/a student cannot take up their seat at MBRU as a result of a situation that is outside of their control, and was not publicly clear at the time of application or when fee commitments were made then the applicant/a student may be entitled to a full refund of tuition fee, seat reservation, and any application charges. Examples include:

- State-wide resolution such as visa or travel restrictions
- Late University regulation such as suspension/cancellation of a program
- Late progression decision

Refund receipt:

Refunds are by default credited to the applicant/student/guardian's bank account unless cash returns are approved.

Incident Investigation:

If a payment is made during a period of investigation of an incident, and the student is under suspension, the payment is either non-refundable or transferred to the following semester based on the final outcome of the investigation.

4.2.3 HBMCDM Dissertation Refund

A total fund of AED 15,000/ has been allocated to support MSc dissertation research of a student at HBMCDM with below scope to consider:

- The total fund allocated is throughout the duration of the program. The fund is provided for a limited range of research related activity such as purchase of certain consumables or items of equipment not otherwise available, as well as journal publication costs.
- It is imperative that students and faculty supervising dissertations keep a record of expenditure as re-imbursement will not be made without receipts being provided.
- Publication fees will be fully covered from the allocated MSc dissertation research fund for publication in Q1 and Q2 journals and up to 50% in other journals. The principal supervisor or the student can claim the publication fee up to one year after the MSc degree is awarded.
- For the presentation of MSc dissertation research outcomes at conferences, the student/alumnus can claim the cost up to six months after MSc degree is awarded. The alumnus will need to submit a written declaration that the material to be presented derives wholly from the MSc dissertation, no other entity could



support their registration fee, travel and accommodation costs and the declared affiliation at the conference is HBMCDM, MBRU.

• Approvals for research funding should be in writing, and any purchases will be the property of MBRU after the completion of the research or the degree being awarded, whichever is earlier.

4.2.4 Tuition Fee Installments

All students are expected to abide by the payment schedule published annually by the Finance Department at MBRU

The default process for annual fees is for payment to be made in full before the start of the academic year. However post-dated cheques are acceptable for the annual tuition fee if a payment plan is approved prior to the start of the academic year.

In exceptional circumstances, the Department of Finance, may approve flexibility in payment settlement.

No registration for the following academic year is made unless the liabilities of the previous academic year are cleared. In exceptional scenarios (e.g., student progressing to his/her final year) the Provost or Vice President may permit registration of a student with outstanding pending fees from previous years.

Regular reports and follow up of all pending payments are maintained by Finance Department.

Final settlement of all fees is required before graduation.

4.2.5 Scholarship Programs and Discounts

MBRU is keen to attract talented students and support their educational journey. Aligned with our value of giving, we have established a number of scholarship programs, starting in the academic year of 2018/2019, available to students. Additionally, selective discounts are available to all MBRU students.

4.2.5.1 Future Doctors Program*

Stemming from the University's commitment to support the admission of qualified applicants and to maintain academic excellence, the university offers the meritbased scholarship program; The Future Doctors Scholarship to Bachelor of Medicine and Bachelor of Surgery (MBBS) students.

Incoming students:

- 5 scholarships will be awarded to the top 5 ranked MBBS applicants. The eligible applicants will be offered up to a 30% scholarship on their annual tuition fees.
- This scholarship is applicable for one academic year only.



- This scholarship is determined on an annual basis.
- No application process is required.

Continuing students:

- Scholarships will be awarded to students with an annual GPA of 3.8 or above. The eligible students will be offered up to a 30% scholarship on their annual tuition fees.
- This scholarship is applicable for one academic year only.
- This scholarship is determined on an annual basis.
- No application process is required.

* Scholarship is available to the MBBS program.

4.2.5.2 Jood Scholarship Program*

Stemming from the University's commitment to support the admission of qualified applicants and to support students with verified financial needs, the university offers a needs-based scholarship program; Jood Scholarship to Bachelor of Medicine and Bachelor of Surgery (MBBS) and Hamdan bin Mohammed College of Dental Medicine (HBMCDM) students.

MBBS:

- Incoming and continuing MBBS students with demonstrated financial need are offered up to 50% support from the University on their annual tuition, provided that their annual GPA is above the minimum GPA of progression
- Incoming students can apply for Jood scholarship after the acceptance of offer and payment of the seat reservation fee. Online form link will be shared after the seat reservation fee payment deadline.
- It is applicable for all continuing students to apply for Jood scholarship.
- The scholarship is valid for one academic year only.

HBMCDM:

- Students with verified financial needs in HBMCDM programs can receive up to a 50% scholarship on their annual tuition fees, provided their annual GPA is above the minimum GPA of progression.
- Applicable only to UAE residents.
- Jood scholarship is applicable for HBMCDM continuing students with monthly income below AED 20,000.
- Jood scholarship is not applicable to HBMCDM incoming students.
- The scholarship is valid for one academic year only.

* Scholarship available to the MBBS and HBMCDM programs.



4.2.5.3 PhD BMS Scholarship

MBRU offers a 100% scholarship for a limited number of students in the PhD program in Biomedical Sciences.

4.2.5.4 MSc BMS Scholarship

MBRU offers a 50% scholarship for all Master of Science in Biomedical Sciences students.

4.2.5.5 MBRU Frontliners Scholarship

MBRU offers a 50% scholarship for all Master of Science in Nursing students.

4.2.5.6 Discounts

Siblings Discount

• Families that have more than one sibling enrolled at MBRU may receive a discount of 10% on the annual tuition fees. The discount(s) will be applicable from the second sibling onwards.

Martyr's Discount

• To honor the nation's heroes, children of the UAE's army martyrs will receive a discount of 15% on the annual tuition fees.

Employee's discount

• MBRU full-time employees and adjunct employees that have daughter/son enrolled at MBRU may receive a discount of 5% on the annual tuition fees.

4.2.5.7 Guiding Rules for Scholarships

- Students cannot combine more than one MBRU provided scholarship or discounts. If the student qualifies for more than one, the highest discount will apply.
- Applicants applying to the Jood Scholarship Program must pay the nonrefundable seat reservation fees first, in order to qualify for the Jood application.
- Students continuing to receive the above discounts are subject to the scholarship terms and conditions issued by the University's administration.



4.3 Registration and Enrollment

4.3.1 Registration

A student will be registered at the beginning of each academic term and continue in active registration throughout their stay in the University, unless otherwise advised.

4.3.2 Enrollment Eligibility

Only students who have been admitted to MBRU can enroll for any training or classes.

- A student can only register for a course for which he or she has completed the required prerequisites.
- A student must comply with the academic, administrative, and financial policies of the University in order to enroll.
- SAR is responsible for authorization, denial, or suspension of registration as well as for lifting such denial or suspension.
- Enrollment may be suspended or canceled because of disciplinary action, financial delinquency, or safety concerns.
- All core curriculum courses are compulsory, and students are required to attend all the courses offered in each academic term.

Different Enrollment Status:

Audit status

A student may register as audit in courses completed or required to be completed for credit in the future. The student grade shall designate a registered course with audit status. These credits are not included in the total credits required for graduation in a degree program and shall not contribute to the grade point average.

• Deferred Status

Deferral: Is the postponement of academic participation for a defined period of time. An applicant/a student may be deferred for a maximum of one academic year. If an applicant/a student has extenuating circumstances that restrict them from joining the University, they may request in writing to be deferred for one academic year. Approval is required from the relevant committee and Dean of the College. For continuing students, they may also be allowed to defer if courses required are not offered in a given semester.

Suspension



Suspension is a temporary hold on registration for a defined time period due to a serious academic or non-academic offense.

• Dismissal

A permanent discontinuation of registration as a bonafide student usually as a disciplinary measure taken against a student found guilty of serious offence following investigation. Dismissed students do not normally have the option of reenrollment.

Add/Drop Period is the first two weeks of each semester, during which schedule changes can be made, including dropping or adding entire courses due to section changes. A student may drop a course without academic penalty during the course drop period. In general, all students are required to take all the courses offered for their cohort unless progression decisions stipulate a change in student registration. These changes need to be completed during the add and drop period. Add and drop courses does not apply to PhD in Biomedical Sciences.

It is strongly recommended that students consult with their academic advisor and/or program chairperson/director prior to adding or dropping a course.

4.3.3 Grading Policy and Progression Requirements

Students are advised to refer to the relevant college catalog for details pertaining to Grading and Progression policies.

4.3.4 Leave of Absence

A leave of absence is a period of non-enrollment when a student is not attending scheduled academic activities toward the degree that they are registered for at the University. Leave of absence can be granted in case of, but not limited to, study leave, maternity leave, military service, or medical reasons.

- The normal period of a leave of absence is one semester, but it may be extended to a maximum of one academic year, unless exceptionally extended by the Dean.
- The most updated MBRU tuition fee schedule will be in effect upon return from a leave of absence.
- If an extension is anticipated, a student on leave of absence should apply for an extension at least four weeks before the expiration of this leave.
- Continuous absence of more than two years will be converted to a withdrawal.
- Curriculum Committee in each college needs to conduct an assessment of the requirement to repeat previous courses or clinical components of the degree before reenrollment if the student has been absent for one year or more.
- Application for leave of absence using the Change of Status request form should ACADEMIC YEAR 2023-2024



be initiated at least four weeks before the last day of classes through SAR.

- If approved by the College Dean, SAR will notify the Department Chairperson and Course Coordinators and administrative departments, as required.
- The student should initiate the request through SAR of the intention to resume studies, at least eight weeks before resumption.
- A student may be granted a leave of absence only once from matriculation to graduation.

SAR may place a student on an involuntary leave of absence for medical reasons if: The student poses a direct threat to the health and safety of themselves or others

The student's behavior is determined to be the result of a medical condition (a medical report, including a psychiatric evaluation, may be needed prior to return and reenrollment)

The student will be notified in writing of the decision to place him or her on an involuntary leave of absence and the reasons for the decision.

All students applying for a leave of absence are highly recommended to seek the advice of the Student Counselor.

4.3.5 Withdrawal

Withdrawal is an action where a student opts to discontinue their studies at MBRU for any reason- personal/academic. Withdrawal applies to a course(s), or from the University.

Withdrawal from a course(s) means:

- Voluntarily withdraw from registered courses(s) or
- Withdrawn from the registered course(s) if he/she is absent for two consecutive weeks at any stage of the academic semester/session without reason or permission
- Wrongfully enrolled in course(s)
- Demonstrates poor academic performance.

The student must complete the Add and Drop Request Form for withdrawal from a course(s). Withdrawal from university means that the student drops all courses in which he/she is currently enrolled, but not yet completed, and cancels enrollment in courses for which he/she is scheduled to be registered in an upcoming semester/ session. A change of status form is required to be completed for a Leave of Absence request or in cases where a student opts to discontinue their studies at MBRU. Upon approval the student status and registration changes as withdrawn on the Student Record System. If the student wishes to return to the university, then the policy for



Re-enrollment applies.

Add and Drop courses do not apply to PhD in Biomedical Sciences, hence readmission and reenrollment are not applicable. Early exit from the PhD in Biomedical Sciences will not lead to a degree qualification from MBRU.

The status of the courses registered varies according to the time of withdrawal as shown in the table below:

Week range	Action	Outcome
Week 1 - end of Week 2	Courses dropped	Dropped courses don't appear on the transcript
Week 3 – end of Week 6	Courses dropped appear with 'W'	Withdrawn grade appears on the transcript
Week 7 – end of semester/ clerkship/internship	Courses dropped appear with 'F'	Withdrawn with 'F' grade on the transcript
Week 7 – end of semester/ clerkship/internship	Courses dropped appear with 'W'	Withdrawn with 'No Penalty' grade on the transcript for students with extenuating circumstances

4.3.6 Reenrollment to MBRU

Students who were given a leave of absence from the University or a break from continuous enrollment in regular academic terms, may apply for reenrollment, contingent upon the following:

- The student applies for reenrollment within two years from the beginning of the first academic term of the break-in registration
- The student is not dismissed from the University
- Students on suspension are eligible to apply for reenrollment upon the completion of the period of suspension.
- A student must comply with the academic, administrative, and financial policies of the University when submitting a request for reenrollment. The request should be submitted two months in advance of a new semester. Students eligible for re-
- enrollment into MBRU are required to complete and submit the change of status form along with any supporting documentation to SAR.
- The final decision on reenrollment remains with the Dean of the concerned college. SAR is responsible for facilitating the reenrollment request from



students, seeking the required approvals and communicating the final decision back to the students.

4.4 Student Records

4.4.1 Definition of a Student Record

The student's permanent record:

- Is maintained by SAR and encompasses the student's admission, registration, and graduation records, including biographical and personal identification, health information, educational participation and performance, release of information consent forms, as well as records of commendation and disciplinary actions.
- May be accessible by other University departments for the purposes of academic administration and advisement, on as needed basis, ensuring confidentiality.
- Will have a copy of the students' scholarship details.
- Contains Health Records: medical form/immunization record / sick leave certificates (as applicable) of students who have submitted information or received medical care during their period of study with the University.

4.4.2 Maintenance of Student Records

The students are responsible for ensuring the accuracy of information in their student records and should send prompt updates to SAR in case of any updates or inaccuracies.

- SAR has responsibility for maintaining and archiving all records and all documents associated with applicants, students and graduates.
- Student records are held in the strictest confidentiality on electronic platforms. The current systems being used are Student Information System, Learning Management System, MBRU in-house applications and secure electronic department shared drives.

4.4.3 Access to Student Records

Students have access to their personal records via SAR and have the right to request the updates or the correction of any errors or inconsistencies. Students will have read-only access. Any corrections/additions/alterations will be done by an SAR officially. The student may be required to present the evidence. Access to select student academic records will be made available to MBRU management, academic advisors and other University departments for the purpose of academic administration and advisement, on as required basis, ensuring confidentiality. Personal and academic information relating to students will only be released to a ACADEMIC YEAR 2023-2024



third party with the student's approval, with the exception of certain data that may be released to legal authorities, legal guardians, sponsors and employers upon written request. The Director of SAR will assess each request and permit the limited release of records in the context set out above.

4.5 General Advice on Safe Working in Laboratories

4.5.1 Introduction

Everyone working in laboratories will use hazardous substances (typically chemicals or biological agents) and could potentially be exposed to them. Some of those substances are potentially very harmful but only if the dose received is significant. MBRU is committed that nobody should be exposed to harmful amounts of any hazardous substance due to the nature of work performed at the workplace. Attention to personal protection and hygiene combined with good laboratory technique should ensure that all work can be conducted without significant risk.

Prior to undertaking any laboratory work, all users and in particular new students at all levels must receive safety training on all general aspects of work in the laboratory, such as protection from exposure to chemical or biological agents, and on specific aspects such as emergency evacuation procedure, location of fire alarm points, and fire extinguisher positions and their use. This will be covered in the two mandatory sessions - HSE Induction and Lab Safety Training.

All laboratory users must recognize that they have a responsibility both for their own safety and the safety of others in the area. This must be borne in mind while carrying out all operations in the laboratory.

Student/researchers are not to embark on a new or unfamiliar procedure until they have been fully trained and approved risk assessment. Awareness of the potentially harmful effects of the work activity and the necessary precautions for adequate control is required.

4.5.2 General Laboratory Working Precautions

- Dress appropriately in the lab (further details are outlined below)
- Avoid using hazardous substances if possible, or substitute for safer alternatives
- Use the minimum amounts of all hazardous substances to minimize exposure
- Minimize emission, release and spread of hazardous substances by good experimental design and the application of good working practices
- Buy only the minimum quantity of the chemical you need
- Take all necessary precautions to prevent or control exposure to hazardous substances that you are exposed to during your work. Control measures must be proportionate to the level of risk and MUST NOT increase the overall risk to health & safety
- Work efficiently to reduce the duration for which you are exposed

ACADEMIC YEAR 2023-2024



- Apply good housekeeping practices keep your bench and floor areas free of unnecessary clutter.
- Work in an orderly and organized manner
- Think of the safety of others e.g. cleaning and maintenance staff never leave chemicals or equipment in a dangerous condition, dispose of hazardous materials appropriately
- Refrain from running within the laboratory or along corridors in the vicinity of laboratories
- Food and drink must never be stored or consumed in laboratories
- Wash your hands with detergent before leaving the laboratory
- Smoking is prohibited
- Do not apply cosmetics in the laboratory. Avoid long and artificial nails
- Avoid any contact between your fingers and mouth in the laboratory, such as biting fingernails or chewing pens or pencils
- Treat all chemicals as hazardous and handle them with utmost precaution
- Always exercise care when opening and closing doors on entering and leaving the laboratory
- Ties and jewelry, such as pendants and necklaces, can become entangled in moving mechanical equipment or could trail on a contaminated bench surface when bending over equipment. Avoid wearing jewelry when working in the laboratory. Furthermore, long skirts should not trail or touch the floor
- Ensure long hair is tied back. Note that head scarfs are to be tightly secured around the head and the coverings should not come in contact with bench surfaces
- Make sure you know the emergency procedures and emergency exit routes applicable to your laboratory
- Ensure that doorways and emergency exits are not obstructed
- Confirm that you understand all the safety signs at your place of work
- Familiarize yourself with the location of any eyewash stations, safety showers and fire extinguishers at your work area
- If you are not satisfied with the provision of safety equipment or training do not start the work. If in doubt at any stage, stop work and ask for advice
- Acquaint yourself with the emergency numbers below, the location of the nearest first aid box, and how to obtain medical attention in event of an emergency

MBRU Emergency telephone number:

04 383 8800 (Main Reception Operator) MBRU HSE office: 04 383 827; 055-8006623 UAE Civil Defence Number 997; Ambulance 998



4.5.3 Personal Protection Precautions

4.5.3.1 Lab Coats:

- Lab coats must be worn (and fastened) in all 'wet labs' handling liquid chemicals and, in all bio-containment labs handling cell cultures and microorganisms.
- It is acceptable for someone to enter a laboratory without wearing a lab coat (e.g. to speak to a colleague or a visitor looking around) provided:
 - they are not engaged in any work activity.
 - o it is not a mandatory 'local rule' of the lab for everyone to wear a lab coat.
- Lab coats should be changed and laundered regularly.
- Lab coats must normally be removed (along with any other protective equipment e.g. gloves) before leaving the lab

4.5.3.2 Safety Glasses:

The use of safety glasses in research/teaching labs is not mandatory but based on the level of risk presented by individual work activities. Unless specified in specific risk assessments and associated procedures/local lab rules, it is the responsibility of the individual worker to make a sensible risk-based judgment on the need for eye protection.

Safety glasses must be available for all laboratory workers including students and visitors.

Safety glasses should be worn in the following circumstances:

- All activities presenting a risk of eye splash injury, e.g. dispensing hazardous liquids, working with liquids under pressure (e.g. filtering liquids with syringe/ cleaning columns with alkali)
- When working with high-pressure systems, or glassware operated under vacuum (e.g. removing items from an autoclave)
- Where practicable equipment presenting a risk of eye injury should be operated behind a protective screen or in a fume hood.

Although there is no specific policy for wearing contact lenses in the lab, the general policy on wearing eye protection where a splash risk injury is identified would still apply. In other words, if there is a need to wear safety glasses you will be protected whether you wear contact lenses or not.



Prescription safety glasses will provide some splash protection, and adequate for low-risk activities where splash injury could occur. However, for higher-risk activities (e.g. dispensing strong acids) you should wear 'over specs'/goggle to improve the level of protection

4.5.3.3 Footwear:

Sensible 'closed shoes' must be worn in all lab areas to properly protect the foot from chemical splashes and sharp objects.

Open-toed shoes and sandals are not considered suitable footwear for lab areas and must not be worn. This is a matter of sensible risk management and good laboratory practice. The feet are vulnerable to injury in several ways in laboratories which can occur suddenly without warning, e.g. from heavy objects (including reagent bottles) or sharp objects such as glass slides, scissors or forceps, being dropped. Additional risks to be considered include spillage of hot or cryogenic liquids or corrosive chemicals, manual handling of equipment and injury from a protrusion at foot level.

4.5.3.4 Protective Gloves:

Appropriate gloves should always be worn when handling hazardous substances, very hot, very cold, sharp or otherwise dangerous objects.

Disposable gloves should be worn when considered necessary:

- To protect workers against some biological or chemical hazards
- To protect samples from contamination e.g. tissue culture work

Disposable gloves must not be used if their use increases the overall risk of harm arising e.g.

Gloves should NOT be worn when working in close proximity to a naked flame (e.g. using a Bunsen burner when applying aseptic technique for microbial work) as their use increases the chance of burn injuries if the glove melts

- Nitrile gloves are recommended for general 'splash protection'. For high-risk exposure activities (beyond 'splash protection') specific glove types and thicknesses will need to be considered as part of a specific risk assessment.
- Disposable gloves should not be worn in communal areas. They should be removed before leaving lab areas, avoiding causing concern to the casual bystander (real or not) that gloves are spreading contamination around the Department.

The use of gloves should not be required when transporting materials from one lab area to another - any hazardous materials should be adequately contained (double containment required), presenting no risk to you or others. If gloves are considered necessary, only one glove should be used (the other, 'clean' ungloved hand, is used ACADEMIC YEAR 2023-2024


to open doors on the route between labs)

It is the responsibility of individual groups to make sure that new workers are made aware that this practice should be followed as part of local induction training given to workers, and to monitor compliance.

4.5.3.5 Ear Protection

Ear protection should be worn when using or working near noisy equipment e.g. sonicators.

4.5.3.6 Face Masks/Respiratory Protection

Tight fitting face masks (N95 or FFP 1-3 standard) to be used when respiratory protection from dust is required.

4.5.3.7 Inhalation Exposure Control Precautions

Apply engineering controls (ventilated cabinets e.g. fume hood/biosafety cabinet) at the source where practicable, supplemented with personal protective clothing/ equipment where necessary

Medium/high chemical exposure potential: avoid inhalation of hazardous dust, aerosols, gases and vapors by working in a fume cupboard or other local exhaust ventilation (volatile chemicals)

Low chemical exposure potential: operations involving an inhalation risk can only be carried out on the 'open bench' where exposure potential is low e.g. short-term operations with some volatile substances that produce 'nuisance smells' only.

Any activity likely to generate aerosols presenting a risk of exposure to infectious agents must be conducted in a biosafety cabinet

All related details to chemicals safety and associated risks with controls can be referred to from the SDS (Safety Data Sheet).

4.5.3.8 Ingestion Exposure Control Precautions

Avoid ingestion of hazardous substances by mouth by ensuring that you:

- Apply good hygiene practices by washing hands before leaving the lab and whenever you suspect your hands have become contaminated with any hazardous substance.
- Do not pipette by mouth.
- Do not eat or drink in the lab.
- Do not lick labels, chew pencils, chew your nails, etc.
- Do not store food or drink for human consumption in the laboratory or in



refrigerators used for laboratory purposes.

4.5.3.9 Absorption Exposure Control Precautions

Skin:

- Wear a lab coat (required for all 'wet labs' handling liquid chemicals and biocontainment)
- Wear sensible 'closed-toe' shoes
- Protect cuts/grazes with waterproof adhesive dressings/plasters
- Use disposable gloves where necessary (especially for chemicals that can be absorbed through the intact skin)
- Do not touch face when handling hazardous substances

Mucous Membranes (e.g. eye)

- Wear eye protection to avoid splash injuries to the eye (essential when handling substances presenting a risk of serious eye injury e.g. corrosives)
- Do not touch face when handling hazardous substances

4.5.3.10 Direct Inoculation Standards Precautions

- Avoid the use of sharps where possible
- Apply safe handling practices when using sharps (e.g. needles/scalpels/use of glass Pasteur pipettes (see below) do not use them until you have received appropriate training
- Never try to force a glass pipette or glass tube into a pipette filler or other orifice: push the filler gently onto the glass tube (not the other way around), holding the pipette as close as possible to the end you are fitting. Wear gloves or use a cloth to further protect your hands in the event of breakage if necessary. Ask for assistance if you are unsure
- Safely dispose of all sharps in sharps bins to avoid risk of the sharps injury to others

4.5.3.11 Storage Precautions

- Store chemicals in correctly labeled containers with the appropriate hazard warnings clearly identified
- Store chemicals as advised by the supplier. If in doubt, store in a cool, dark place. Do not store chemicals in bright sunlight or above eye-level wherever possible
- Store hazardous volatile chemicals in a fire-proof cabinet or if non-flammable, or



if in very small amounts, in a fume cupboard

- Flammable solvents with flashpoints below 32° C (e.g. acetone, isoamyl alcohol, butanols, ethanol, diethyl ether, petroleum ether, propanols) must not be stored in bottles of more than 500 ml unless in a fire-proof cabinet. All flammables should be put away in the fire-proof cabinet at the end of the working day wherever possible
- At intervals check your chemical stocks. Look out for unwanted chemicals, containers with decaying or peeling labels, signs of deterioration, etc.

4.5.3.12 Transport Precautions

- Never carry chemical bottles by the neck. Always support with both hands, one being beneath the bottle.
- All containers of chemicals should be sealed when carrying in communal (nonlab) areas. High hazard chemicals should be double contained to prevent spillage in the event the primary container leaks.

4.5.3.13 Disposal

- All dilute water-soluble waste should be flushed down the sink with copious amounts of cold water
- All flammable and halogenated solvents should be collected in labeled, plastic coated 'Winchester' (2.5 liters) bottles for disposal
- Organic waste should be kept to a minimum (if possible, try to substitute watermiscible solvents) and stored properly in appropriate bottles for disposal
- Put the uncontaminated broken glass into the designated bin provided
- All samples/materials containing hazardous concentrations of chemicals to disposed of in yellow bins/bags
- All bio-hazardous materials (liquid or solid) to be inactivated using validated methods (e.g. appropriate disinfectant/autoclave treatment)
- All sharp objects (needles, glass Pasteur pipettes, scalpel blades, etc.) must be placed in special sharps boxes, obtainable from Stores
- Think about the safety of others! Never put such objects in other waste containers as serious injuries to technicians/cleaning staff can result



4.5.3.14 Machinery

- Never set any equipment in motion without first making sure that no one is likely to be injured
- Observe all safety precautions as demonstrated to you when you first use the equipment

4.5.3.15 Cryogenic Liquids

Cryogenic liquid (e.g. liquid Nitrogen) It is extremely cold: 77.3° K = -196° C at atmospheric pressure. This can cause severe frostbite. On vaporization it expands by a factor of 700; one liter of liquid nitrogen becomes 24.6 cubic feet of nitrogen gas. This can cause an explosion of a sealed container, or it can displace oxygen in the room and cause suffocation without warning. Wear safety glasses or a face shield, insulated gloves and aprons when transferring liquid nitrogen.

4.5.3.16 Storerooms and Refrigerators

- Samples placed in laboratory refrigerators should be properly labeled with date and source for easy tracking.
- Used hazardous materials should not be stored indefinitely, but should be safely disposed of soon after a project is completed.
- Flammable liquids should only be placed in refrigerators which are spark-proof.
- On no account must food or drink be kept in laboratory storerooms or refrigerators.
- Dedicated storerooms are assigned for laboratory chemicals and consumables.



4.5.3.17 Passenger Lifts

Flammable liquids and hazardous chemicals, in particular bio assay samples, solid carbon dioxide and cryogenic liquids, should not be transported in passenger lifts as per standard practice. Appropriate service lifts should be used to transport such items including medical, biological and all other relevant waste.

4.5.3.18 Spillage and Emergencies

Be prepared for dealing with accidental spillages (small or large). A universal chemical 'spill kit' is available in all labs for dealing with a spillage.

If a spillage occurs, keep calm and take any appropriate remedial action, following instructions on the spillage kit as a guide if necessary or notify lab personnel to attend/assist.

Where a spillage involves personal contamination:

- Wash immediately with copious amounts of water.
- Use the emergency shower or 'pull out shower hose' if necessary.
- Shout for assistance, if required.
- Report the accident on the appropriate form.

4.5.3.19 Emergency Evacuation During Fire and Other Natural Calamities

It is imperative that you have a clear understanding of the fire drill. Fire alarm procedures will form an essential part of early training for all laboratory users. Evacuation is a must when you hear a fire alarm.

4.5.3.20 Reporting Injuries and Near-miss Incidents

Report any glass breakage or spills on the floor to the instructor/lab personnel. Wet floors can lead to dangerous slippery conditions

Report all electrical faults to your supervisor/lab personnel. Do not attempt to repair it yourself.

Remember to report all injury and any near-miss incidents to your supervisor and HSE office.

The Facility Management & HSE Contact Number: 04-383 8627 Report any Hazard, Near-miss or Incident online



4.6 Student Attendance Policy

Students are an essential partner in the teaching and learning process and thus are required to actively participate physically or virtually in all educational activities for the duration of their enrollment in the University unless they have a valid reason for being absent. Any student who has been excessively absent from a course may be required to withdraw from that course without credit.

4.6.1 The Purpose of Attendance Monitoring

Attendance for educational activities goes beyond attending lectures to participation in all aspects of the curriculum, including but not limited to:

- Preparation for and delivery of lectures/presentations
- Developing experience of working in teams
- Participating in laboratory or clinical training
- Enhancing social responsibility and community engagement
- Promoting professionalism and collegiality

4.6.2 Attendance Evaluation

The attainment of proper education and training requires students to participate actively in all components of the curriculum.

Attendance and active participation in curricular activities is an evaluated component in all courses.

Attendance, whether physical or virtual, at all required educational sessions is expected, unless written evidence of mitigating circumstances is provided and approved. In this case students must compensate their learning in their free time

Students are required to attend all tutorials, laboratory sessions, simulation center training, field trips (if applicable), sessions entailing group work, as well as all clinical and laboratory components of the curriculum.

Students are required to be on time for all scheduled classes, examinations, group sessions, laboratories, clinical sessions and pre-clinical lab sessions.

Attendance will be recorded in the first 10 minutes from the start of the session. After 10 minutes the student will be recorded as absent

In some courses, the course coordinator/faculty may provide the option of either attending lecture-style classroom activities or attaining the knowledge through self-directed learning for selected sessions in the course.

Course coordinators will clearly highlight in their course syllabi the course attendance policy and the sessions in which students' attendance is required. They would also advise students whether physical and/or virtual presence are acceptable ACADEMIC YEAR 2023-2024



in a course or in selected sessions.

Attendance at clinics or hospitals is mandatory. It is expected to attend all clinical/hospital scheduled sessions; in case of absence the session needs to be compensated when feasible to be offered. The Masters dental students must notify the clinical coordinator in order to assign a colleague for replacement at least 24 hours prior to expected absenteeism. Only in unexpected emergency cases then the notice period can be less than 24 hours.

The hospital regulations apply in case a student needs to be absent from a clinic. If applicable a Leave Request shall be filled. After approval of the leave request by the clinical lead a copy should be sent to SAR for updating the student record

Students attending to patients shall be available at the clinic/hospital before the patient's arrival in order to review the treatment plan, clinical notes and lab work with he clinical coordinator / supervisor.

While students are highly encouraged to attend all educational sessions in their programs, it is appreciated that some students may experience circumstances that prevent them from attending some sessions. Valid excuses for missing classes may include the following:

- Hospitalization or serious illness of the student or an immediate family member (attested medical report is required)
- Death of an immediate family member
- Accidents
- Court appearances or imprisonment
- Participation in authorized conferences and extra-curricular activities
- Mandatory admission interviews and exams for professional or graduate school which cannot be rescheduled if permitted by the Dean or Designate
- Military service
- Maternity leave which should not exceed 20% of scheduled didactic sessions. Clinical/hospital sessions should be compensated when feasible.

It's the responsibility of the student to notify the course coordinator/advisor/ counselor of excused absences from class and to provide, when necessary and appropriate, supporting documentation that justifies their absences. It is expected to present a valid excuse to SAR within one week after the absence. A Leave of Absence request should also be completed and submitted to SAR. All documentation pertaining to the absences is confidential and will be securely filed by SAR for later access if required

o protect their privacy, students may elect to provide the supporting documentation exclusively to the Student Counselor. The Counselor will in turn study the case and



validate the absence of the student to concerned parties.

In some circumstances (e.g. accidents and severe illnesses) the family members of a student may notify the Counselor or SAR of the absence and provide the necessary supporting documentation

In order to provide students with adequate support and take the necessary administrative decisions, course coordinators/academic advisor are required to bring the cases of prolonged (excused and unexcused) absences of students to the attention of the Program Directors/Department Chair, Student Counselor, Chair of relevant committees, College Dean and SAR as necessary and appropriate.

Students who are absent from 10% of the scheduled course sessions will receive a first email alert and will be asked to meet with their academic advisor for guidance and possible referral to the counselor if needed.

Students who are absent from 11-20% of the scheduled course sessions will receive a second email alert and will be asked to meet with their academic advisor and student counselor for advice and support.

For students whose absences exceed 20% of the scheduled course sessions a committee is formed by the Dean to evaluate the case. If no valid excuse is provided the student may be subject to disciplinary action which may include withdrawal from the registered courses with a failing grade

The course coordinator/faculty are available to help students during their scheduled office hours. In some instances, it may not be possible for them to reconstruct the learning experience attained during certain missed sessions (e.g. experiments, field trips), and the onus is on the student to ensure the attainment of knowledge and skills missed due to their absence from a required session

Attendance policies will be applied in a fair and non-discriminatory manner. Students' privacy and confidentiality will be respected, and only authorized individuals will have access to student attendance records.

Assessment policy will apply if there is an absence from an exam.

4.6.3 Absences Due to Delivery and Maternity

The student is advised to notify the academic advisor, counselor and clinical/ hospital Supervisor (if applicable) of the pregnancy and the expected date of delivery. Written notification by the student is presented to SAR for records. Clinical sessions are required to be adjusted and planned in advance. Radiation or any other related risk during clinical sessions are taken into consideration.

All reasonable efforts will be made to provide distance learning for didactic courses and compensated clinical sessions to ensure students fulfill the course

ACADEMIC YEAR 2023-2024



requirements during and after pregnancy.

The student is entitled to two weeks of leave from the date of delivery, renewable for an additional two weeks with the approval of the Dean. In case of absence from didactic and clinical sessions for more than four consecutive weeks, the student is placed on a mandatory 'Leave of Absence. In case of an appeal, a panel is formed by the Dean to raise a recommendation basing on justifiable reasons.

When feasible, to compensate for the missed clinical sessions, the student needs to agree and accept in advance that replacements may take place during the weekends and vacations.

4.7 Guidelines Governing the Use of the Library

4.7.1 Introduction

The purpose of these guidelines is to enable users to make the fullest use of the University library resources, facilities and services, hereinafter referred to as the 'library'. The guidelines apply to all University library facilities and may be enforced by any member of staff acting on behalf of the Provost.

Within the guidelines, the word 'book' means any book, pamphlet, periodical, manuscript, map, microform or other material which forms part of the library's collections.

Any breach of the guidelines will be dealt with via the University's Code of Conduct and Disciplinary processes.

4.7.2 Access to the Library

Details of the opening hours of the library have been set out by the Office of the Administrative Affairs. Any changes to these opening hours to facilitate specific semester/examination schedules will be approved by the Office of the Administrative Affairs and will be communicated via electronic communication and on the library website.

All students, staff and faculty of the University are permitted access to the library.

All persons entering the library must show acceptable proof of identity on request.

Library access privileges are also available to the healthcare staff of DAHC.

4.7.3 Conduct in the Library

To create a positive and comfortable learning environment for students and other library members, the following will be considered a breach to library regulation:

• Any disorderly conduct in the library

ACADEMIC YEAR 2023-2024



- Any behavior which unfairly inconveniences other users
- Any actions causing damage or the risk of damage to books, furniture, equipment or the fabric of the building.

4.7.4 Guidelines for Orderly Conduct in the Library

Users should not bring bulky personal possessions into the library.

Study areas in the library may be designated as silent, quiet or available for group work. Out of consideration for others, users must maintain good order and observe the rule relating to noise applied to each area.

Mobile phones should be switched to silent on entering the library and only used in areas designated for this purpose.

As responsible members of the MBRU community, library users are expected to take good care of library property and refrain from damaging or defacing any library book or other library resources. Users who lose or deface a book belonging to the library will be required to pay an appropriate sum of money to enable the purchase of a replacement copy (or replacement set).

Library users must comply with any request to show their books or bags to a member of library staff when leaving the library.

A user vacating his or her place will be deemed to have left the library and, unless a note indicating a temporary absence (of no longer than 30 minutes) is left on the desk, any books and papers may be cleared by library staff and the place taken by another user.

4.7.5 Other Services and Resources

The use of computer equipment in the library is governed by MBRU's Use of Computing Facilities guidelines set out within Section 2.10. Where information is made available in electronic form, users must observe all conditions of use imposed by vendors as part of the licensing or sale of their products.

All users of library materials are personally responsible for ensuring that they observe the requirements of copyright legislation. Whether in library buildings or elsewhere, students or faculty copying library books under the terms of any licensing scheme currently in force within the University are responsible for ensuring strict adherence to the rules of any such scheme.

4.7.6 Borrowing from the Library

Books in open-access collections are available for use within the library without formality and may be borrowed on the conditions set out below:



The following categories of material are not normally available for use outside the library:

- Designated works of reference
- Books and other materials held in Special Collections
- Periodicals
- Thesis

The loan period may vary at the discretion of library management – please check with library staff.

The number of books on loan at any one time should not exceed the appropriate quota. When a user reaches the specific maximum, no more books may be borrowed until one or more books have been returned.

Books are to be used within the library premises unless they have been borrowed in accordance with the guidelines.

Books borrowed from the library are expected to be returned by the due date. A book will be overdue if kept beyond this date and will incur a fine. Details on fines are available at the library.

Any book borrowed from the library will be subject to recall if it is in demand or for any other reasonable cause.

A book will be considered in demand if required by more than one user at any one time, and will be available for loan for one week only.

Books with substantial waiting-lists may, at the discretion of the library staff, be made available only under the conditions governing the use of restricted loan collections.

A borrower, on receiving notice that a book on loan to him or her is required by another user, is expected to return that book to the library by the date stipulated in the notice. A book will be deemed to be overdue if kept beyond this date, and will incur a fine

Users will be considered in default if, within a reasonable time and without lodging an objection, they fail to:

- Return any overdue book.
- Return any book recalled by the library or
- Pay any fine imposed by the library.

Users who are in default will, after a written warning, have their library account suspended and may be subject to disciplinary action.



Any library information notices will normally be sent to students, staff and faculty by electronic mail to University email accounts.

4.7.7 Closed Access Collections

Books in restricted loan collections at information desk or other service points will be available, according to the category of material, either for use within the library only, or for a short loan according to conditions as stated at the service point.

Books borrowed from the designated short loan collections must be returned no later than the time specified. A fine will be charged for each book kept beyond this time. No loan may be renewed.

Access to, and use of, the books in Special Collections will be at the discretion of the librarian.

4.7.8 Restricted Circulation

The librarian may, if required:

- Transfer any book from open-access to closed-access or restricted circulation.
- Restrict any book for use within the library only.

4.8 Guidelines - Student Clubs

Students are encouraged to participate in extracurricular activities to enhance the student life experience taking into consideration the MBRU values and guidelines as well as the applicable UAE laws.

4.8.1 General Guidelines for Operation of Clubs

Each club will have an Executive Committee, consisting of a President, a Vice President, treasurer, secretary, and a club faculty/staff advisor. Other positions can be added as per the needs of the club.

- A club must have at least 5 participating members, in addition to the Executive team, to be recognized by the Student Life Department and the Student Council.
- For clubs to be considered active, the Executive Committees are expected to meet at least twice per semester, and minutes of meetings must be recorded and held on file. Student clubs are also expected to hold at least one main activity per academic year.
- Student clubs which do not maintain the minimum activity and membership requirements stipulated will be deemed inactive and will not be able to enlist members or organize activities and might be suspended.



- Inactive clubs may be reactivated by submitting a written request with appropriate justification to Student Life.
- The Club Executive Committee reports to SL and the Student Council any request for financial or other support for activities and it must be approved by the Council which in turn reports to SL.
- Memberships in clubs are generally open to all enrolled students and should not be restricted based on nationality, religion, gender, or race.
- Any activity engaged in must be related to the core purpose of the club.
- Any club wishing to host an event must submit a request to the Student Council President and to Student Life at least two weeks in advance. If the event includes a request for financial support, the submission must be made at least three weeks prior to the event.
- If a club is planning to host a conference or seminar, a proposal must be submitted six months in advance.
- Email is the primary mode of communication to be used for club activities.

4.8.2 Starting a New Club

Complete a Student Club initiation form, available at Student Life and a registration form outlining the background to the club and setting out its vision, mission, and role in enriching campus life, as well as an outline of the planned activities for the first year.

The club Executive Committee will seek the support of an advisor from among faculty or staff who would be willing and have an interest in the club's domain. Depending on the club's nature, more than one advisor could be sought.

Submit the proposal to SL and the Student Council for consideration and approval. There may be a need for a meeting with the parties to respond to any queries about the club or its operations.

Once approval from Student Life and the Student Council is received, students are authorized to organize a meeting to appoint the Executive Committee, including a Club President, Vice President, treasurer, secretary, and other officer members as needed.

The Executive Committee should review, revise, and approve the club's plan and then submit this and the cost of planned activities for the first year to SL. Following consideration, SL will approve the budget available for the activities and confirm that to the club Executive Committee and the club advisor.



4.8.3 University Support for Clubs

Once a student club has been approved by SL the Student Council, the University will provide support by:

- Booking available University rooms for meeting and events
- Providing support in sending announcements and invitations for club activities
- Supporting in logistics and liaising with other departments relevant to an activity or event
- Providing guidance to club members to enhance their plans and performance.

4.8.4 Clubs Activities Plan

In taking forward the annual activities plan, it will be important that the Club Executive Committee:

- Ensures regular meetings of the Committee throughout the academic year to oversee progress against the club's vision and mission.
- Puts in place a mechanism for regular communication of progress to SL and the Student Council.
- Forms an organizing committee for each event and appropriately allocates budget and member's time.
- Ensure meetings are timed and agreed actions recorded.
- Ensures external visitors are not contacted or engaged prior to approval from SL.
- Ensures the advisor or a faculty member is available for all events or seeks written permission from SL to authorize a 'substitute'.
- Forwards to SL details on each activity/event including the event budget, and expense receipts. A Student Club Event Request Form is available from SL.
- Any proposed travel by members of the Club within UAE must receive prior approval from SL and can be requested via email.
- Liaises immediately with SL to seek advice and guidance should any issues arise.
- Forwards a final report on all events to SL and completes any further actions.

4.9 Policy for Non-Academic Publications and Use of Media Platforms

The guidelines under this section are written for the protection of students and the University alike. They are not meant to restrict student publishing or media participation but rather to enhance students' professionalism and increase awareness of responsible conduct and behavior.

Material prepared for publication and distribution, whether written, electronic, or via platforms such as radio/television, must be aligned with the University's guidelines.



Students or student organizations are expected to follow the guidance provided.

4.9.1 Protocols Relating to Non-Academic Publications/Media

Marketing & Communications (Marcomms) and Student Admissions and Registration (SAR) Departments have overarching editorial responsibility for all student publications/media events.

To enhance quality and ensure adequate support, advance permission must be sought from SAR prior to production of any non-academic publication.

Violations of the proper use of student publications need to be reported to the Director of SAR.

Any breach that brings the university into disrepute may constitute gross misconduct and disciplinary action will be applied.

Student(s), or student organizations, are responsible for all publications produced on their behalf.

4.9.2 Guidelines for Publications Design

All publications must adhere to UAE publication legislative and copyright requirements, as well as University protocols and guidelines.

SAR and Marcomm will have sole responsibility for authorizing the use of the University's brand and logo in line with University protocols.

Any student publication represents the author's point of view and as such the author is responsible for its content with no liability on the University.

The content of any publication must not contain any malicious intent against any individual, organization or entity.

Content must not attempt to incite defiance, or disobedience of any University policy or regulation, UAE legislation, or have the intent of promoting civil disorder.

Publications must not contain any profane or indecent material, anything contrary to the customs and culture of the UAE.

All context of publications must be consistent with the standards that would be expected from an intellectual and professional, academic environment.

SAR and SL should be contacted should any request for a media, or other public appearance by a student be received/required.

Students should use their judgment when considering approaching the media and be

ACADEMIC YEAR 2023-2024



aware of the consequences to themselves of bringing the University into disrepute, or inadvertently breaching any legislation relating to data security.

Contact with the media with regards to publicizing approved events must have approval from SAR and Marcomm in advance.

4.9.3 Use of Social Networking Sites

It is important, when making use of social media, to bear in mind the following with regards to the use of University facilities:

- The University's logo or name must not be used on a student's personal internet presence in a way that may give the impression that it is an official University site, or in any way appear to represent MBRU.
- When using the University name in personal social media accounts any personal views must clearly indicate that they are the student's own
- In case of open and public criticism of the University on social media; students may be asked to provide evidence of any claims which criticize the University. Any such concerns should be brought forward via the established University nonacademic offences guidelines.
- Other individuals' privacy and feelings should always be respected. Therefore, sites must not be used to abuse staff/faculty or other students at the University.
- Students are responsible to obtain permission from relevant individuals if contact details, photographs, or images relating to others are to be posted.
- Sites should not be used to access or share illegal content.
- The use of offensive language is prohibited.
- Any breach that brings the University into disrepute may constitute gross misconduct and disciplinary procedures will be applied.
- Students should be aware that information published on social media, even on sites that appear to be private, can be accessed by external parties which could affect their reputation and career prospects.
- Any implied accusation of students or staff of MBRU will still be considered a violation of the University policy and be addressed by SAR as and when applicable.
- Students should avoid breaching copyright laws by ensuring to give credit to the source used to obtain images, videos, music or written content.
- Confidential University, students or staff information such as login details and passwords must not be shared on social media.
- If any violation is observed the Director of SAR is to be notified immediately

Before any affiliated MBRU account is created, the prospective students should consider the following points and communicate this to Marcomms through SAR and



SL

- What's the purpose of this account?
- Who is my target audience?
- What platforms should I consider?
- How much time do I have to devote to the account?
- What will I post on this account?
- Who will be the administrator of the account?
- If a social media follower/user breaches the rules when interacting with the University-affiliated account that you are an administrator to, it is advisable to warn the offender that they are in violation, remove the offending content and block the person?
- The affiliated account should state that the views expressed don't reflect the views of the University.

MBRU reserves the right to monitor any social media accounts that affiliate themselves with the University and where necessary, request the removal of accounts or posts that reflect negatively on the University.

4.10 Computing Support and the Use of Computing Facilities

MBRU's Learning Management System is built to enhance the learning experience of students. It provides an integrated online solution for the hosting of information to support student learning. It facilitates the delivery and receipt of course materials, assignments, and other coursework.

Classrooms and laboratories are equipped with computers and relevant Audio/Video devices for use by faculty and students for the effective delivery of teaching. There are 70 stations in the computer laboratory, ideal for conducting computer- based classes and examinations.

4.10.1 Use of Information Technology (IT) Facilities

Students making use of the range of IT facilities at MBRU must abide by the following conditions of use:

- Users of the University's IT facilities are subject to MBRU policies and procedures, in addition to relevant legislation.
- The University uses licensed software which forbids the use of its IT facilities for any non-University personal or commercial purposes.
- Except for students' academic records, MBRU has no responsibility for the retention of information relating to students who have left the University.
- To protect the integrity of the MBRU IT network and its users against unauthorized or improper use, the University reserves the right to:
 - Limit or restrict the use of its IT facilities.



• Copy, remove, or revise any unauthorized data or software that may undermine the integrity of the IT facilities.

MBRU is not responsible for data held on non-University computer systems or networks, except where this has been agreed with an appropriate member of faculty as relevant to a study program.

The University takes all reasonable steps to safeguard the confidentiality and security of the data held on its IT systems but does not accept any liability for loss of confidentiality or data as a result of a breach. It is the data owner's responsibility to take appropriate measures to safeguard against such an eventuality.

4.10.2 Guidelines for Computer Usage

The following guidelines apply regarding the use of the MBRU IT facilities:

- Users are authorized to use only those accounts assigned to them and are responsible and accountable for all activities performed using these accounts
- IT facilities are in high demand by students, faculty, and other staff and partners of the University and, to ensure all users have sufficient resources, it should be used only for official University business on an 'as required' basis
- Users should only access IT systems for which they are authorized and should ensure that their use of the facilities is appropriate. Unauthorized activities include, but are not limited to:
 - Hacking into University or external systems and records
 - Use or distribution of pirated, culturally offensive, or other potentially offensive materials
 - o Distributing content of a threatening or otherwise malicious nature
 - Disclosure of confidential passwords, personal identification numbers, and/or access devices or information for accounts, equipment, and telephone voicemail
- Users should take all action necessary, via the use of antivirus software, to ensure that information being used or shared across the University's systems is free of any viruses.

4.10.3 Emails

Email is the official means of communication at MBRU. To ensure efficient and timely communication, students are expected to read and respond to University emails.

Possible misuse of the email facility includes inappropriate content, unsuitable global announcements, and exchanges with inappropriate organizations.



4.10.4 Violation of the Rules Governing the Use of the Computing Facilities

Any violation of the rules governing the use of any of MBRU's computing systems, or UAE and international legislation, will be dealt with under the appropriate University disciplinary process.

4.11 Code of Conduct

MBRU has a multi-cultural environment and students are expected to demonstrate the highest standards of professional and social behavior when liaising with fellow students, faculty, staff, patients, and external partners. Students are required to respect the ethos of the UAE's society and ensure their behavior does not offend cultural sensitivities and is in alignment with MBRU Values.

The following Code of Conduct is intended to facilitate the provision of a high-quality education that is reflective of the exemplary image of the student and the University. All students are to observe these rules on campus and in external settings where they represent MBRU. Violations may be confidentially reported to SAR.

4.11.1 General Conduct

The following general rules are applicable to all MBRU students:

- In line with legislation of the UAE, smoking, e-smoking and vaping are prohibited in all University premises, healthcare centers and hospitals.
- Students are expected to maintain decency in conduct, including refraining from behavior's that are abnormal and/or may cause embarrassment in the context of a multicultural and diverse society.
- Irrespective of designations, students are expected to respect and treat everyone with compassion in a professional manner to ensure that MBRU values are all times always practiced.
- Students are advised to carry their University ID and to present it to authorized security or staff on request.
- To avoid disruption and maintain professionalism, students are expected to be punctual for lectures, labs, workshops, or clinic/hospital and show courtesy to others by honoring appointments.
- Out of respect for the University environment, students are prohibited from distributing unauthorized printed or digital material or placing any kind of posters unless prior permission for a specific purpose has been granted by SAR.
- It is unauthorized to use the University logo and name without prior approval from SAR and SL.
- Students must respect the privacy of others including the use of social media. Any student found to have spread rumors or taken any action that might harm the wellbeing or reputation of another student, faculty or staff, may be subject to the



University's disciplinary processes.

- Student personal photos on MBRU electronic and social media platforms should look professional.
- Students on personal social media must represent MBRU in the most professional and respectful manner.

Dress Code and Personal Hygiene

Students are ambassadors of MBRU and therefore should dress professionally in a modest and appropriate manner that is in alignment with the cultural expectations. Except for special protective clothing for laboratories, the following must be observed:

- Appropriate decent dress including official UAE national dress or western dress.
- Occasionally, smart casual attire and jeans on campus are acceptable if no formal didactic/training sessions are scheduled. However, such attire should not contain offensive writing, pictures or have a worn-out/torn effect.
- Niqab or face cover is restricted and should be removed during simulation sessions, clinical/hospital sessions and exams or whenever requested on campus.
- While in the hospital or another healthcare center, the dress code of that workplace applies, as is the case for its employees. The same would apply to the simulation center.
- Visible tattoos are unacceptable.
- Visible uncommon piercing is unacceptable.
- Female students must refrain from wearing high heeled shoes, heavy make-up, strong perfumes and excessive jewelry. Clothes should not be tight, transparent, low cut sleeveless or above the knee.
- Students' hair, both male and female, should be of natural color and male students must not wear their hair long and need to trim their facial hair. It is important to maintain a well-groomed look always.
- Students are expected to maintain a high level of hygiene. Nails on hand and feet should be neatly trimmed. Equally important students need to be mindful about their body odor.

Generally, students should aim to always appear smartly dressed and well-groomed as would be expected from healthcare future professionals to avoid anything of a non- standard appearance that attracts attention.

4.11.2 Co-education Conduct

Despite the cosmopolitan nature of the UAE and the openness of the UAE community, the local Arabic culture and the national identity must always be respected when you are on campus. Mixed-gender presence in areas that could be



considered suspiciously hidden or closed should be avoided. The University will not tolerate harassment, false accusation, public display of affection, or any socially inappropriate behavior that could potentially embarrass or hurt the sentiments of other people. If such an incident is reported it could lead to a formal investigation.

4.11.3 Conduct in the Classroom

Appropriate behavior, whether in class, laboratory or clinical skills situations, is vital for student and faculty safety to ensure a productive learning environment.

To maintain classroom etiquette, (on campus or online) students should minimize side talk and movement in and out of the classroom. It is also expected from students to refrain from the use of mobile phones for social purposes and they should be kept silent. For online education, students should refrain from disrupting the flow of the session by resorting to any inappropriate behavior (including removing students from a group without their permission, muting participants etc).

To guarantee a supportive environment conducive to learning, students are required to comply with instructors if approached in relation to noise, disruption, argument and if asked to leave a classroom.

Failure to do so may result in an incident report completed by the instructor and forwarded to SAR for investigation. In some cases, such investigations may lead to sanctions being imposed as per the non-academic disciplinary process.

4.12 Intellectual Property Rights of PhD Students

MBRU encourages innovative work and supports its faculty researchers and students to capture the social and financial benefits of their inventions by offering them legal protection of Intellectual Property. Further details are referenced in the intellectual property policy.

5 DISCIPLINARY & APPEALS PROCEDURE

0

> > > > > >



5. STUDENT DISCIPLINARY AND APPEALS PROCEDURE

Students are expected to abide by the University's guidelines for acceptable academic and non-academic behaviors at MBRU.

MBRU appreciates that, in the vast majority of cases, students will be responsible members of the University community. Therefore, this section relates to the very few cases when students may face disciplinary action. It outlines student Disciplinary and Appeals Procedures relating to academic and non-academic offences.

Offences, both academic and non-academic, are taken seriously at MBRU and could precipitate serious repercussions including, but not limited to, suspension/dismissal from the University.

MBRU offers students training and services to educate them on proper referencing and enhance their awareness of professional and responsible conduct. Students are strongly encouraged to make use of such services. Ignorance of the correct procedure for referencing or not understanding the regulations is not an excuse for committing an academic or non-academic offence.

Justifications will not be accepted for cheating in an examination. Students are strongly encouraged to verify with the course instructors and invigilators the permitted items for each examination. They are also responsible for ensuring that they are informed on what constitutes an academic or non-academic offence.

5.1 General

To ensure a fair and due process, students have the right to appeal any of the disciplinary committee decisions.

References to 'student' within this section may also encompass groups of students or student organizations.

During the disciplinary process, interim restrictions, such as a temporary suspension, may be placed on a student. However, to ensure there is no undue detriment to the student during the process, he or she will be permitted to take scheduled examinations and submit assignments.

To protect the best interests of the student, all investigations into alleged misconduct will be undertaken in a strictly confidential manner with information provided only to individuals who are critical to the investigatory process on a 'need to know' basis.

Any decision to dismiss students from MBRU must be ratified by the President.



5.2 Disciplinary and Appeals Procedure – Academic Offence

The University requires students to demonstrate academic honesty to the highest level and is committed to working with students to ensure that they are awarded the degree they deserve.

It is an academic offence for a student to commit an act whereby he or she gains, or attempts to gain, an unfair advantage. Students are responsible for maintaining high standards of personal and professional integrity as per the Student Academic Integrity Policy.

5.2.1 What Constitutes as an Academic Offence

Plagiarism: A student may be guilty of plagiarism if he or she has presented or copied the work of others and represented this as their own. A software program is used by the University to establish the originality of any submission by a student. It compares assignments to websites, books, journals and other student assignments worldwide.

Cheating in an examination is a very serious academic offense. The term 'cheating' normally describes behavior relating to an examination situation, and includes getting information from an external source other than the student's own knowledge and background, regardless of whether this is related or not to the examination in question.

A student may be suspected of an academic offense if during an exam or other assessed coursework he/she:

- Had any form of notes, items, or texts in their possession other than those that are specifically permitted for that examination. Students are strongly encouraged to verify with the course instructors and invigilators the permitted items for each examination.
- Copies, or attempts to copy, from another student's examination script.
- Obtains, or attempts to obtain, assistance from another student or from any other person which leads to an unfair advantage.
- Impersonates another student, or allows himself or herself to be impersonated as candidates for an examination.
- Provides, or attempts to provide, unfair assistance to another student.
- Permits another student to copy from their examination script.
- Knowingly assists any student to make use or attempt to make use of unfair means.
- Works on an assignment with anyone else if that assignment is meant to be done individually.
- Claims to have carried out experiments, interviews or any form of research which they have not in fact carried out, or if a student invents or falsifies data, evidence ACADEMIC YEAR 2023-2024



or experimental results. It is also an academic offence if a student knowingly makes use of falsified data as described above.

- Submits or 'copies and pastes' text from a book/ journal/ another student or the internet without properly giving credits to the authors.
- Copies a friend or classmate's assignment and submits it as their own work.
- Tampers/distorts documents to receive academic advantage.
- Submits all or part of an assignment that has been previously submitted and marked by MBRU or any other institution.
- Buys or obtains an assignment online or elsewhere and submits it as their own work.
- Fabricates evidence/interviews or data.
- Makes use of a mobile phone, notes or any unauthorized material during an examination.
- Attempts to hack electronic examinations or faculty examination preparatory material.
- Presents a forged certificate or a document that does not truly reflect his/her knowledge.
- Any other situation that the examiner or the invigilator considers a form of cheating or plagiarism.
- Disseminates information about the content of examinations at MBRU

5.2.2 Procedure for Investigating a Suspected Academic Offence

If an incident of suspected cheating occurs during an examination, the relevant evidence will be confiscated by the invigilator, and the student will be allowed to continue with the examination. The invigilator will report violations and suspicious activity to the Student Assessment and Progression Committee of the respective College and the SAR, which in turn will inform the Dean's Office for the purposes of initiating an investigation.

The Dean of the designated College will inform the student in writing to his or her University email account that he/she has been suspected of an academic offence. The student may wish to seek guidance on the process from his or her Academic Advisor, SAR or a member of the Student Council.

5.2.3 Disciplinary Process for Academic Offence

An Academic Offences Committee will be convened by the College Dean or designate (Chairperson) and will include three to five members of staff/faculty from the University and a member from SAR (it is recommended that the Academic Advisor sits on this committee). This will include one member of staff (faculty or non-teaching staff) to bring the case and another to speak for the student.

The student will be invited to attend and is entitled to be accompanied by a ACADEMIC YEAR 2023-2024



registered student of the University (could be a member of the Student Council), or a member of University staff.

If the student does not attend the meeting, without reasonable excuse, the Chairperson of the academic offences committee may take the decision to either postpone or proceed with the investigation in the student's absence.

Prior to the start of the meeting, the Chairperson will confirm with the student that he or she understands the process and their rights.

All witnesses, including the student, will be interviewed.

The Committee will consider the allegation against the student and come to a decision.

The outcome of the case will be reported to the Dean normally within ten working days; however, it should be noted that more complex cases may take longer. The Dean will communicate this to the student in writing, normally within a further five working days.

5.2.4 Possible Outcomes of the Disciplinary Process for Academic Offence

- Dismiss the case
- Receive a written warning which will remain in the student record
- May be asked to sign an undertaking that will remain on his/her file agreeing not to repeat the behavior; the terms and conditions of the undertaking will be determined by the Academic Offences Committee
- Be given an additional assignment on a course related to the offence
- Receive a failing grade on all or part of the module and be permitted to re-take it as per the University's academic policies
- May receive a failing grade for one or more courses taken during that semester
- Suspension or dismissal from the University (a student's transcript may reflect a breach of integrity by the student if he or she is suspended or dismissed from MBRU)

5.2.5 Appeals Process for Academic Offence

A student has the right to appeal the communicated outcome within five working days to the Dean through SAR if he or she believes that:

- New evidence has become available which could not have been previously provided for consideration
- The disciplinary decision was based upon an error in the interpretation of the procedures or unfair/biased proceeding for dealing with academic offences



• There was a procedural irregularity in the conduct of the investigation

The student will be notified in writing of the decision within five working days. The penalty is kept on hold until the appeal is resolved. If the appeal is granted, the previous penalty imposed will be suspended.

5.2.6 Academic Offences Appeals Committee

On receiving an appeal, a new Appeals Committee will be formed by the Provost or their designate. This shall be chaired by a faculty member not involved in the earlier stages of the process, and the membership may include staff who have also not participated in the process to date. It should constitute of three to five members including a representative from SAR.

Prior to the start of the meeting, the Chairperson will confirm with the student that he or she understands the process and their rights.

The student will have an opportunity to outline the grounds of his or her appeal. The Chairperson of the Academic Offences Committee may be invited to explain the decision against which the student is appealing.

The Appeals Committee may request interviews with witnesses, and the student.

SAR will communicate the decision of the Committee to the student in writing, normally within ten working days.

5.2.7 Possible Outcomes of the Appeals Process

- To uphold the appeal and revoke the penalty imposed.
- To confirm the penalty imposed.
- To impose a different penalty from that of the original penalty.

The decision of the Appeals Committee is final. There is no further avenue for appeal.

Any case resulting in a recommendation of dismissal must be ratified by the President.

5.3 Disciplinary and Appeals Procedure – Non-Academic Offences

This procedure sets out the process for dealing with any general behavior deemed by MBRU to be unacceptable but that is not directly related to gaining an unfair academic advantage. This includes contraventions of the rules and regulations relating to use of the library, laboratories, and computing equipment, dress code, behavior on campus and off campus that can negatively affect peer group/staff/faculty at MBRU and encompasses the entirety of the non-academic aspect of student life at the University.



5.3.1 What Constitutes as a Non-Academic Offence

Non-academic offences include but not limited to the following:

- Possessing/using alcohol or illegal drugs on campus.
- Indulging in smoking, e-smoking or vaping on the University, or associated premises.
- Invading the privacy of another person.
- Restricting other students', staff or other University partners' freedom of usage of the facility.
- Instigating or otherwise encouraging others to engage in fights, riots or other disruptions.
- Gesturing or using inappropriate language that may be considered abusive or obscene.
- Failing to follow instructions provided by laboratory technicians, security staff and other MBRU and associated staff.
- Making a false oral or written statement to any University official.
- Removing library books without prior permission.
- Misusing the computing equipment of the university.
- Causing any disruption during the teaching of a course or the conducting of research activity.
- Indulging in improper off-campus conduct of a nature to bring the University into disrepute.
- Inviting unauthorized guests onto university premises, associated hostels, or any other area designated for MBRU students without the prior approval of SL
- Misusing the documents, records, identification cards or papers of the university.
- Behaving in a manner that may result in destruction, damage, misuse or defacing (e.g. graffiti) of University buildings, other property, or laboratory equipment, whether intentional or accidental.
- Littering on the University premises.
- Posting of notices, without prior approval of SL.
- Forwarding electronic announcement of any kind, such as emails and texts to a student or group of students without prior approval of SL.
- Using the University's name, logo, seal or trademark without appropriate authority.
- Harassing, assaulting, threatening, or otherwise endangering the health, safety, or wellbeing of another person or their property.
- Stealing or knowingly having possession of stolen property.
- Parking in an area not designated for students.
- Carrying weapons (including items, such as kitchen knives, which could be used ACADEMIC YEAR 2023-2024



as a weapon) on University premises.

- Violating University policies or regulations set out within official publications or otherwise announced by the University.
- Violating the laws of the UAE.
- Displaying affection in public.
- Sitting inappropriately in public.
- Violating MBRU dress code.
- Spreading rumors about a student/staff/faculty at MBRU.
- Insulting a student/staff/faculty with the use of inappropriate language or gestures that may cause emotional stress to the individual/group of people.

5.3.2 Investigatory Process for Non-Academic Offence

When a case is reported, the Director of SL will inform the student in writing to his or her University email account that they have been suspected of a non-academic offence. The student may wish to seek guidance on the process from their advisor, the student counselor or a member of the SL.

There are three stages to the investigatory process dependent on the seriousness of the alleged misconduct. For more serious cases the Director of SL may proceed directly to Stage 2 and address the Provost's Office.

Stage 1

- The Director of SL will designate the counselor or a member of SL to undertake an informal Stage 1 investigation of straight forward cases.
- The investigator will meet with all relevant parties to ascertain the details of the case, to allow the student to respond to the allegation, and to attempt to reach a resolution, which will then be communicated to the Director of SL.
- The Director of SL will consider the report from the investigatory process and the information set out in the request from the student, and will either reach a decision to uphold or revise the outcome of the investigation, or to implement Stage 2 of the Disciplinary process.
- The Director of SL will communicate the outcome of the investigation with the student in writing, normally within five working days. However, it should be noted that more complex cases may take longer.
- If the student is not satisfied with the decision reached, he or she should inform the Director of SL in writing within five working days of notification of the sanction, setting out the reason behind the dissatisfaction.



Stage 2

- A Non-academic Offences Committee will be convened by the Director of SL and will include three to five members of staff from the University including a representative from SL. This will include one member of staff to bring the case and another to speak for the student.
- The student will be invited to attend and is entitled to be accompanied by a registered student of the University (which may be a member of the Student Council),or a member of University faculty or staff.
- If the student does not attend the Committee meeting, without reasonable excuse, the Chairperson may take the decision to either postpone or to proceed with the investigation in the student's absence.
- Prior to the start of the meeting, the Chairperson will confirm with the student that he or she understands the process and their rights.
- All witnesses, including the student, will be interviewed.
- The Committee will consider the allegation against the student, and come to a decision.
- The outcome of the case will be reported to the Director of SL normally within ten working days, however, it should be noted that more complex cases may take longer. The Director, in turn, will communicate with the student in writing, normally within a further five working days.
- When a student has been found to have a history of earlier offences, the Committee will not be informed until a decision has been taken on whether the student has committed a new offence. At that time, the Committee will be informed in order to take this information into account when imposing outcomes.

5.3.3 Appeals Process for Non-Academic Offence

A student has the right to appeal the outcome of the Non-academic Offence process if he or she believes that:

- New evidence has become available which could not have been previously provided for consideration.
- The disciplinary decision was based upon an error in the interpretation of the ACADEMIC YEAR 2023-2024



procedures for dealing with non-academic offences.

• There was a procedural irregularity in the conduct of the investigation.

SL will notify the student of the decision in writing within five working days. If the appeal is granted, the previous penalty imposed will be suspended until the appeal is resolved.

5.3.4 Non-Academic Offences Appeals Committee

On granting of an appeal, the Provost or his designate will form a Non-academic Offence Appeals Committee. Academic members are preferably from a different College to that of the student. The Chair may be a member involved in the earlier stages of the process, and the membership may include some members who have also not participated in the process to date. It should comprise of three to five members including a representative from SL.

Prior to the start of the meeting, the Chairperson will confirm with the student that he or she understands the process and their rights.

The student will have an opportunity to outline the grounds of his or her appeal. The Chairperson of the initial Non-academic Offence Committee (or nominee) will also be present to explain the decision against which the student is appealing.

Where the charges are found, by clear and proven evidence, to be substantiated, the Committee, by majority vote, will decide whether to uphold the original, or impose a revised sanction.

SL will communicate the decision of the Non-academic Offence Appeals Committee to the student in writing, normally within five working days.

Unless the investigation started at Stage 2 (due to the seriousness of the case), the decision of the Appeals Committee is final and there shall be no further avenue for appeal.

5.3.5 Possible Outcomes Resulting from Non-Academic Disciplinary Action

The following are defined by the non-academic offence committee based on the findings.

- A fine to be paid to the Finance Department within twenty-one days of notification of the sanction. Failure by the student concerned to make payment within this period will result in an automatic suspension to remain in place until payment is made
- Cancellation of scholarship if applicable
- Community service
- Additional assignment on a course related to the offence

ACADEMIC YEAR 2023-2024



- Ban from membership of the Student Council
- Suspension for a short period of time to be advised by the relevant Committee
- Suspension of Summer Scholars Program participation
- Exclusion from a partner hostel or hospital, as appropriate, for a period of time to be advised by the relevant Committee
- Dismissal from the University. This recommendation is exercised by the Appeal Committee only which will be directed to the President for final approval

An application for reenrollment by a dismissed student will not be considered.

5.3.6 Suspension or Permanent Dismissal from the University

Students suspended or dismissed remain liable for all fees due to the University and will be ineligible for a refund of fees or other finances paid to the University or its partners (e.g. hostels, hospitals).

In case of dismissal all relevant departments in the University will be notified by SAR and SL in writing. Written notification will also be sent to the student, the legal guardian (if applicable), and the sponsor (if applicable).

5.3.7 Disciplinary Records and Confidentiality

SAR, in accordance with the University's discipline policies and procedures, will maintain student disciplinary records and inform the appropriate authorities of all penalties imposed so that they may be enforced.

Student disciplinary records will be kept in the strictest confidence and will only be communicated to the student concerned and to other persons for legislative reasons such as the need to respond to a court order.

6 STUDENT GRIEVANCE & APPEALS



جامعة محمد بن راشد للطب والعلوم الصحية Mohammed Bin Rashid University of Medicine and Health Sciences

6. STUDENT GRIEVANCE AND APPEALS

6.1 General

The University is dedicated to the highest standards of teaching, scholarship and research, and to the advancement of knowledge. This is set in an environment of equality, tolerance and mutual respect for all its faculty, staff and students. To help achieve and maintain these standards, the University has in place a range of quality assurance mechanisms, including the following Student Grievance and Appeals Procedure.

This policy positions the ground for the procedure for students to raise a grievance in relation to another student, a member of faculty or staff, or University service/facility, in the context of the University's ambition to provide a studentcentered, experiential, and clinically-focused learning environment. For academic appeals please refer to Section 5 of the Handbook.

The policy aims to ensure that student concerns and grievances are addressed, investigated fully and objectively in a fair, timely and effective manner.

Scope of the Procedure

The procedure applies to grievances from any registered student at the University and is restricted to circumstances not previously covered by existing regulations or procedures.

The procedure can be used for both individual and collective concerns raised by a student based on being subjected to a violation, misinterpretation, or inequitable application of any of the regulations of the University. Alternatively, if a student has been treated unfairly or inequitably by reason of any act or condition that is contrary to established policy or practice governing or affecting students at MBRU. This includes, but is not restricted to:

- Services or facilities provided by the University including teaching and academic facilities and services.
- Grievances against faculty or staff of harassment or discrimination.
- Student support services.
- Administrative services.
- An alleged action or inaction by the University.

All student concerns and grievances about issues where faculty or staff are involved will be investigated initially using the Student Grievance Procedure, unless or until a staff disciplinary action is felt to be more appropriate. In complex cases where more than one procedure applies, the Director of SAR (if the grievance relates to student services), Director of Human Resources (if the grievance relates to University staff/



faculty) and, if required another senior member of staff, will together decide the nature and sequencing of any process

Concerns or grievances against faculty or staff relating to discrimination will be considered under this procedure by the appropriate senior member of staff at each stage.

When submitting a grievance, students should be careful not to make unsubstantiated or defamatory allegations or comments about other students, members of faculty and staff or any other person.

Any student who raises a concern or grievance under this procedure will be protected from victimization and discrimination by being assured protection from any penal or disciplinary action in the absence of a proven fabrication of data or unsubstantiated defamation attempt.

A student raising a grievance will have the right to be accompanied by a registered student or member of staff of the University at any stage in the procedure. The role is one of support, not representation. Each student raising a grievance will normally be expected to present their own case.

A student or member of staff against whom the grievance has been raised and who has been called to an interview or Committee meeting in relation to the grievance, will also have the right to be accompanied in a similar manner as that set out above.

No party can be represented by another person in their absence.

A student who raises a grievance that is found to be frivolous (i.e. a grievance that has no reasonable chance of success) or vexatious (i.e. where there can be no additional remedy in addition to one that the student has previously been offered, or where the grievance is found to be mischievous) following an investigation under the Student Grievance and Appeals Procedure, will be deemed to be in breach of the Code of Conduct. The onus is on the student to consult with their academic advisor before deciding whether their appeal have sufficient evidence to warrant investigation under the procedure.

Grievances made anonymously will only be investigated if they are discussed with, and presented through, the MBRU Counselor. Grievances from third parties, will only be considered for investigation if the student confirms in writing that the third party is acting on his/her behalf and the student wishes the grievance to be investigated.

All persons involved in the Grievance and Appeals Procedure will be expected to maintain strict confidentiality, both during and after the investigation unless there is an overriding reason to disclose the information.



6.2 Student Grievance and Appeals

Procedure

Stage 1

The majority of non-academic grievances are expected to be resolved satisfactorily at Stage 1 of the process. Where a student has a grievance, he or she should raise it with the person involved or that person's line manager within ten working days of the incident occurring. The person or the line manager will attempt to resolve the matter and respond to the student within five working days.

The member of staff dealing with the grievance should advise the student that it is being dealt with at Stage 1 and should record details of the issue.

If the concern originates during a work or study placement, the student should raise the matter, in the first instance, with the relevant member of staff responsible for the placement at the workplace or institution in question.

Stage 2

If, having pursued the matter through Stage 1, the student remains dissatisfied with the response, he or she may initiate Stage 2 of the procedure. This involves completing the Student Grievance Form and submitting it email to SAR.

- The submission should be made within ten working days of the outcome of the previous stage (and not later than twenty-five working days after first becoming aware of the incident or issues giving rise to the grievance)
- Where, in the opinion of the Director of SAR, it appears that the student has not attempted to resolve the issues informally (Stage 1) or has made insufficient attempts or given insufficient time to resolve the issues before submitting a Stage 2 complaint, the student will be required to attempt to resolve the issues informally (Stage 1). Informal resolution will also be encouraged where it would, in the opinion of the Director, be a more efficient and effective way of addressing the student's issues
- The student should provide sufficient details to afford a reasonable understanding of the grievance, the impact upon the student and the remedy sought. Copies of any correspondence exchanged during the previous stage and any other relevant documentation should also be enclosed
- The student will receive an acknowledgment from SAR by email to the student's University email address within five working days of receipt. Subject to the Director of SAR being satisfied that the student has taken all reasonable steps to resolve the matter at Stage 1 and that no other University procedure or policy is
 ACADEMIC YEAR 2023-2024



appropriate, the written complaint will be forwarded to the relevant College Dean or a relevant Service Director

- The College Dean or Service Director will appoint an investigating officer, independent of the grievance, who will normally be a senior member of faculty or staff, to progress Stage 2 of the Procedure
- The Investigating Officer will head an ad hoc committee to investigate the grievance and may:
 - Seek to resolve the grievance on the basis only of the written documentation submitted by the student and any evidence gathered at Stage 1 of the process
 - Meet with the student and any person(s) against whom the grievance has been raised
 - Meet with the student and any other members of staff or witnesses, where the interpretation of evidence is disputed, or where potential sanctions are severe
- The Investigating Officer will prepare a report of all the evidence presented, normally within ten working days of receiving the grievance, and may make recommendation(s) to the originating office (College Dean or Service Director)
- The Investigating Officer will forward a copy of this report to SAR
- The Investigating Officer's report, with any further comments from SAR or any other parties will be forwarded to the originating office: relevant College Dean, or the Service Director
- The originating office (College Dean or Service Director) and SAR will jointly prepare a response to the student based on the Investigating Officer's report. SAR will inform the student of the finding in writing by email to the student's University email address normally within five working days of the conclusion of the investigation. The response will indicate what action is proposed to resolve the grievance, or the reasons for not upholding it
- Where issues of a confidential nature come to light as part of an investigation, for example personal information relating to a member of staff or student, these may not be documented in full in the report and may limit the details that can be given on any proposed action following the outcome of an investigation.

Stage 3

If the student or party against whom the grievance has been raised is unsatisfied with the outcome of Stage 2 of the process, they may appeal to the Provost or Vice President for Administrative Affairs or designate depending on the nature of the ACADEMIC YEAR 2023-2024



grievance, via the Grievance Appeals form, within ten working days of notification of the decision. The Provost may either accept the request for an appeal, return the request to the relevant Investigating Officer, or form a Grievance Appeals Committee to re-investigate the matter

At least one of the following specific grounds for appeal must be clearly demonstrated:

- New evidence has become available which could not have been previously provided for consideration.
- There was a procedural irregularity in the conduct of the investigation.

SAR and the executive of the concerned committee forwards copies of previous correspondence, including the Investigating Officer's Report, the finding at Stage 2 of the procedure and any supporting documentation, to the Provost who will decide whether the student has met either one or more of the grounds above, and may:

- Uphold the appeal based on the written evidence presented, or
- Refer the appeal which will be heard by a Committee, to include a Chair nominated by the Provost, a member of SAR, and two members of University staff not previously involved in the complaint.

If the request for the appeal is granted the previous decision will be suspended until the appeal is resolved. The student and the party whom the grievance has been raised against will be notified in writing by SAR within five working days.

Grievance Appeals Committee

The Appeals Committee will be formed by the Provost or his designate, the Director of SAR or designate and chaired by a faculty member not involved in the earlier stages of the process, and the membership may include staff who have also not participated in the process to date.

- The Committee may seek written evidence from any witness or person, who in their judgment may have relevant information to contribute. The hearing may be deferred, pending the outcome of any other internal procedures previously underway.
- Should one or other party fail to attend the appeals meeting without a valid reason, the Committee will have the right to either postpone the meeting or to continue in their absence.
- The Appeals Committee may request interviews with witnesses, the complainant and the party against whom the grievance has been raised. Where witnesses are called by the Committee, they should normally be available to answer questions if required and may be subject to examination by the parties. Minutes will be taken



as a formal record of the hearing and retained.

- Prior to the start of the meeting, the Chairperson will confirm that all parties understand the process and their rights.
- The student or party against whom the grievance has been raised will have an opportunity to outline the grounds of the appeal. The Chairperson of Stage 2 may be invited to explain the decision which is being appealed.
- The findings of the Committee will be communicated in writing by email to both parties, normally within five working days of the decision being made. A copy of the findings will also be sent to the relevant Dean.

The decision of the Appeals Committee is final. There is no further avenue for appeal.

6.3 Potential Outcomes of the Grievance Process

- To uphold the appeal and revoke the decision of the ad hoc committee and any penalty imposed.
- To confirm the decision of the ad hoc committee and any penalty imposed.
- To impose a different penalty.

6.4 Timeframes

The timeframes set out in this procedure relate to investigations carried out in termtime only, and it may not prove possible to meet these when key staff are on leave, or otherwise indisposed.

Where it is not possible for the University to meet the deadlines, for whatever reason and regardless of the time of year, the student will be informed in writing by email.

6.5 Central Monitoring of Student Grievances

The nature and outcome of all student grievances received will be reported to the appropriate Dean and SAR.

SAR is responsible for receiving, coordinating and maintaining records pertaining to grievances and appeals,

SAR will prepare a summary report of all student grievances or appeals, preserving anonymity.

6.6 Further Information

Advice on any matter relating to the grievance process can be obtained from SAR.



7 ACADEMIC APPEAL



7. ACADEMIC APPEAL

Students may submit an academic appeal as per the Student Grievance and Appeals process outlined in section 6 of the Handbook. The time frame for submission of an academic appeal is five working days from the posting of an assessment score or final grade. The final decision on the appeal should be communicated to the student within five working days for in course assessments and ten working days from the appeal deadline submission date.

This process will be implemented to review the submitted Academic Appeals which may include but are not limited to the following:

- 1. Missing an assessment during or at the end of the semester
- 2. A technical incident during an assessment
- 3. Missing a submission deadline
- 4. Review of grade or assessment score
- 5. Review of assessment (assignment, presentation or exam)

7.1 Appeal on Any Assessment Score During the Semester

The student will be able to access scores on any assessment during the semester on the LMS.

The student is strongly encouraged to discuss his/her performance on such assessments during the semester with his/her course coordinator. They may also seek advice from their Academic advisor.

A student who wishes to challenge the accuracy or fairness of his/her scores should first raise the concern directly with the course coordinator, and request clarification/ confirmation of the accuracy of the score(s). They may appeal the score within five working days of publication/posting of the scores.

If there is enough evidence to support the appeal, the scores will be changed on the LMS grade sheet by the coordinator and displayed to the students.

If there is not enough evidence, but the student maintains the appeal, the student can appeal to the program chairperson/director through SAR by submitting an email/appeal form.

The program chair/director decision is final and not open to further appeal. It should be communicated to the student within five working days from the appeal submission date by SAR.

7.2 Appeal on Final Course Grades

The student will be able to access final course grades on the Student Information

ACADEMIC YEAR 2023-2024



system (SIS) and final exam scores on the LMS after the approval of the Dean on MBRU APPs.

A student who wishes to challenge the accuracy of his/her course final grades may appeal the grade within five working days of publication/posting of the final grades to the Dean of the college through SAR. They may also consult the course coordinator or Academic Advisor before submitting the appeal.

The appeal should be made by email to SAR or on the academic appeals form and provide a specific reason for the appeal on performance in the final examinations.

Upon receiving the appeal, the Dean shall form an ad hoc assessment appeals committee which will include the chair/co-chair of the relevant assessment and progression committee and two other faculty members, to review the details and the accuracy of the student's grades and any circumstances put forward by the student and provide recommendations to the Dean. The committee will invite the relevant course coordinator and any other faculty or supporting staff to provide input towards making a decision on the appeal. The student may be invited if any further clarification is needed.

The ad hoc committee will submit its recommendation to the Dean within five working days of receiving the appeal from the office of the Dean.

The Dean will make a decision on the recommendation of the Committee.

The Dean's decision is final and not open to further appeal.

SAR will communicate the final decision on the appeal to the student.

7.3 PhD Students

The Provost will form a committee, including the chair of relevant assessment and progression committee, the course instructor and two other faculty members, to interview the student and review the details of the appeal. The Committee will then assess the accuracy of the student's grade.

The committee will report back to the Provost with a recommendation within 10 working days.

The Provost will communicate the final decision on the appeal to SAR within one week of receiving the committee's decision.

SAR will inform the student of the committee's decision.

The final decision communicated by the Provost is not open to appeal.

• 8 GENERAL CONTACT INFORMATION

0

•

 \bigcirc

0

@



جامعة محمدين راشد للطب والعلوم الصحية Mohammed Bin Rashid University of Medicine and Health Sciences

8. GENERAL CONTACT INFORMATION

We would like to reiterate our warm welcome to you to the MBRU family. If you have any questions related to the Student Handbook, please feel free to follow up with the relevant departments. The details of some key contacts are listed below:

Student Admissions & Registration:

student.services@mbru.ac.ae

Student Life: studentlife@mbru.ac.ae

Guidance & Counseling Office: Counselor@mbru.ac.ae

College of Medicine: dean.medicine@mbru.ac.ae

Hamdan Bin Mohammed College of Dental Medicine: office.dental@mbru.ac.ae

College of Nursing and Midwifery: nursing@mbru.ac.ae

Deanship of Research & Graduate Studies: Dean.Research@mbru.ac.ae

Communication and External Relations: marketing@mbru.ac.ae

Information Technology: Helpdesk@students.mbru.ac.ae

Finance Department: StudentFinance@mbru.ac.ae

Facility Management & HSE: fm.hse@mbru.ac.ae

General Inquiries: info@mbru.ac.ae University website: www.mbru.ac.ae

University P.O. Box: 505055, Dubai, UAE

Key telephone numbers:

MBRU Emergency: +9714 3838800 Reception – Building 14: +9714 3838800 Reception – Building 34: +9714 3838990 Student Admissions & Registration: +9714 3838844





جامعة محمد بن راشد للطب والعلوم الصحية Mohammed Bin Rashid University of Medicine and Health Sciences STUDENT HANDBOOK 2023 - 2024